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Monday, December 12, 2016
--- On commencing at 9:10 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.


Mr. Nettleton, I understand we have some preliminary matters this morning.

Preliminary Matters:
Submissions by Mr. Nettleton:


MR. NETTLETON:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.


The purpose we see of this panel, the recall -- we call it the recall panel -- attending today is related to the request from the Board, from the Panel, and particularly, I believe, Mr. Thompson regarding follow-up questions that he may have regarding questions related to the IPO transaction and as they relate to the departure tax that he discussed with the witnesses previously and that we responded to in terms of undertakings that were made as a result of that earlier exchange.


Yesterday we received a compendium of materials from the School Energy Coalition, and it's entitled "cross-examination materials, deferred tax asset", and I think as a preliminary matter we have to have a discussion, sir, about what the intent and the scope is of this panel being recalled, and again, we see that purpose being very limited, very focused, with respect to Mr. Thompson's requests for follow-up questions on items that he asked of this panel.


The intent that I think my friend is seeking is to broaden that, and that's where we have concerns.  The concern is that we did have this panel, this enterprise policy panel, attend earlier in this proceeding.  School Energy Coalition attended that process, had the opportunity to ask questions about deferred tax assets, we had Ms. Cheung and Mr. Vels available as requested by the Board in its procedural orders that informed this process, and they chose not to do that.


The only parties that have raised questions about the question of the departure tax and the deferred tax asset has been Mr. Brett and Board Staff and this Panel.  And in my respectful submission, using this process that we are about to have today to re-engage in areas that parties had an opportunity to ask questions about -- and don't forget, there has only been one question that was raised in the pre-filing materials on the departure tax, and that was from Board Staff -- every party had the opportunity to ask those types of questions before as well.


There has been a fulsome opportunity, and if we simply ignore that, then I think we are getting into an area of procedural fairness to my client of understanding what is the case that has to be met here and the process that the Board is using to understand how it's intended to meet that case.


So in my respectful submission, this, today's proceeding, should be limited and should have a limited purpose of addressing Mr. Thompson's questions and the questions of this Panel.  That's what we had understood as it relates to the tax issue.


Now, I know my friend Mr. Rubenstein and others were afforded the opportunity to ask questions about the business plan, and I think that's a different matter, because I think people were waiting for the chronology, and that is why we have Mr. Penstone on this panel, and Mr. Vels is there also to talk about the interim period between November and May.


But in my respectful submission, as it relates to this tax issue, we are -- a clear line needs to be drawn around what the purpose is for this proceeding.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.


Mr. Shepherd, any response?

Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


My friend's client is -- I apologize.  I have been sick all weekend while I was preparing this cross.  Not looking for sympathy.


My friend's client is asking the Board to order that they be allowed to collect from ratepayers something like $2.3 billion, plus the gross-up, so let's call it $3 billion, over the course of a number of years in taxes that they will not pay.  That may be okay.  I don't know the answer to that yet.  But they had the obligation when they filed their pre-filed evidence to give you the full story.  They had the onus, they still have the onus, to give you the full story.


When we saw the -- if you look at our compendium you will see that it is the undertakings, the questions by -- mostly by Mr. Thompson, by Member Thompson, and the 2015 annual report to reference those two things.


We are looking at the new evidence and saying, wait a second, we may not have the whole story here, which means the Board doesn't have the whole story.  Indeed, I think that's why the Board asked that this panel be brought back, because you weren't sure you had the whole story, and it's a lot of money.  It's a 6.5 -- I believe.  We will check -- in cross we will find this out -- but I think it's a 6.5 percent rate increase just for that, for 20 or 25 years.


So I am not sure that Mr. Nettleton can say at this point, too late, you missed your chance.  No, the onus was on them.  It was always on them.  If they didn't tell the whole story -- we are not supposed to have to drag it out of them.  We are not supposed to have to get it in discovery.  The whole story is supposed to be on the table at the start of the proceeding.


And so if it wasn't, it seems to us that since the panel is back here anyway the logical thing to do is to ask the questions that haven't yet been asked.


And the -- in particular, Mr. Rubenstein asked me to do it, because I have the knowledge of tax that some of the other people in the room don't have, and so I can ask different types of questions.


Those are our submissions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.


Mr. Millar, do you have anything at this point?

Submissions by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Just very briefly, Mr. Chair.


As the Board will be well aware, you have significant leeway and power to control your own process.  So whereas it is certainly -- it's unusual to have a panel recalled at all, perhaps even more unusual to have people re-question the same panel on matters that are not new.  That is unusual, but probably within your power.


To the extent new information comes forward, that's when this type of thing happens, and we talked about the chronology that was filed, and I -- if I hear from Mr. Nettleton, he is okay with more questions on that, that's not a problem, because that is something that came to light after the panel was up and it was agreed that parties may legitimately have questions on this.


The tax issue, I am not going to say one way or another, but it's slightly different, I think.  There were questions on tax before, but certainly Mr. Thompson shows an interest in hearing more.


So what I will say is, you do have significant control over your process, but Mr. Nettleton is not wrong to say that procedural fairness is very important as well.  Certainly the applicant always gets the last word, the last chance to redirect after cross-examination has been completed, and of course they get the last say in submissions as well.


But it is important that they do know the case to be met and that they understand where they are being challenged, but if at the end of the day they get the last word and they have a full opportunity to respond to whatever's come up, I think you are probably okay on a procedure-fairness element, but you do want to be very careful about that.


It is unusual to have a panel back at all and have a cross-examination redone, so you will want to be sure that Hydro One has every opportunity to answer the case that is before it.


Those are my submissions, thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


Mr. Nettleton.

Reply Submissions by Mr. Nettleton:

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, I am going to ask that Exhibit C1-8-1 is called up on the screen.  And this really addresses the remarks that my friend Mr. Shepherd has raised to suggest that the departure tax has come out of the blue.  It hasn't.  The discussion of Hydro One's departure from the PILs regime was raised in the application.  And again, the only party that asked a question in the interrogatory response process, in the technical conference process, in the oral cross-examination process of the panel that was sponsored -- that sponsored this evidence, namely Ms. Cheung and Mr. Vels, was BOMA and Board Staff.

It's not the case, sir, that my friend, Mr. Shepherd, and his client have not had the opportunity to raise questions; they have.  They chose not to.

It is why I say, sir, that for this purpose, for this proceeding, that the questions should be limited to address Mr. Thompson's follow-up questions, the undertakings that were made to Mr. Thompson; they were not made to SEC.  The purpose should be limited.  Those are my submissions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  The Panel will reserve on that just for the moment.  Any other matters that we should discuss, Mr. Nettleton?  Because we are likely going to take a short caucus, or an opportunity to caucus amongst the Panel members and take a break.

Is there anything else we should discuss before doing so, so that we can address any other matters?

MR. NETTLETON:  No, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MS. GIRVAN:  Excuse me.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Girvan?
Submissions by Ms. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  I don't know if I have a right to wade in.  I just want to indicate my support for Mr. Shepherd's position.  I don't see the harm in exploring this issue further in the hearing.  I think it's an important issue for customers, so I just wanted to register that, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, Ms. Girvan.  Mr. Nettleton, any further comment on Ms. Girvan's?

MR. NETTLETON:  I have nothing further to add, sir, than what I have already said.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  We will take a short recess and discuss these matters and return probably in about ten or fifteen minutes at the most.
--- Recess taken at 9:23 a.m.

--- On resuming at 9:44 a.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, please be seated.

DECISION:

Okay, I think it's probably valuable just to have a little recap of the discussions we had on Friday that led to the -- or -- Friday, have I got that right?  Where are we now?  Yeah, Friday morning -- led to the decision to have certain witnesses recalled and the subject matter that we intended to cover.  There were the business-plan issues, there were things around the chronology, things around the incentive -- personal, individual incentive plans, and so those were the subject matters that we felt that Mr. Vels and Mr. Penstone could deal with.  Ms. Cheung was asked to return to deal with issues concerning the ramifications of -- on the PILs and the tax payable as a result of the IPO, those transactions, and those were follow-on questions from earlier conversations we had.


Over the weekend, Mr. Nettleton -- and correct me if I am wrong here, but on Friday Mr. Nettleton had approached Mr. Millar and said could the Panel provide some -- in advance what areas that they wanted to be, you know, have covered specifically so that he could assist in making sure that the return panel was prepared.


So we provided some guidance to Mr. Millar, and it was basically a recap of the types of things that I just articulated, and those were the subject areas.  Mr. Thompson had provided some detailed questions that arose out of the response to an undertaking, and framed them as such, and that's what they are.  And they were provided, copied to the Panel and Mr. Millar, and provided for expediency to -- directly to Mr. Nettleton, that these were questions that -- these are the types of things we wanted to have answered, so that was intended to be brought on the record today, and we will do that.  I think the first order of business should be to get those on the record, and we will figure out the best way to do that, Mr. Millar, so that parties are recognizing the questions that were specific to the tax issues that Mr. Thompson intended to pose and wanted responses from this panel.


Now, again, we weren't sure what the chronology was going to be today, whether or not that would just be a listing or reading of the questions verbatim or how we were going to unpack that today.  Given where we are, I think the most -- probably best approach forward would be to have these available to parties.  We will take a half hour, whatever is required, I think that would probably be suitable, and then we have determined that this is a very important matter, and it has evolved, and new information or even the context of information has surfaced throughout, and it's too important an issue to not allow for a full discovery.


This Panel wants to get on the record the facts, the answers to the questions that have been posed and others that we haven't thought of.  I think that's why we have interventions.


Hydro One will obviously have the last say and will have the opportunity to always have the last say, and it can clarify its thinking on any of these things.


And just something that comes to mind, the whole nature of this, this isn't a one-off, we don't believe.  We are looking at this from a point of view of, if the Board were not to not dig deep on this and really be comfortable with its ruling on this, then it's left for another day in another hearing, and there is also issues around it.  We don't need to -- need not get into it, but just what municipalities that are being purchased from private entities on a go-forward basis, what ramifications there.  If there is something that we should know now that would lead to that, that's something that we want to spend some time on so that we understand what we're -- when we make a decision, what the ramifications in this proceeding and future ones will be.


So with all, that Mr. Nettleton, we will allow for cross-examination on the tax issues.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, might I have five minutes to discuss this decision with my client, because I do think -- well, I would like to have that time, please.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, yeah, and please, by all means, because we would like to carry forward as much as possible with the understanding that this is something that is the best route forward, and we are all in agreement on that.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, I took -- I want to go on the record too, sir, with respect to the communications that I have had with counsel.  It's customary practice that discussions or clarifications do take place through counsel, through Board counsel, through Mr. Millar, and that request that I had made of Mr. Millar on Friday was so that we could at least have some understanding of what the return of this panel was intended for and what they should be preparing for.


So the communication that I have received I had interpreted to come effectively through counsel in response to my request for clarification on what areas this panel should be ready for today.  I don't see that as being outside the norm.  I think it's typical that this is what communications happen through counsel, and that's -- I just wanted to make that statement clear.


MR. QUESNELLE:  No, understood, Mr. Nettleton, and if I cast it any other way -- the slight technical issue on that which took place, which is very unusual but under the circumstances I think, you know, acceptable, especially when we planned on making full disclosure today, was a direct communication from Mr. Thompson to yourself, copied to Mr. Millar, and that would not normally be the case, but I think Mr. Thompson explained that -- why if that was done, and it was with the idea that full discussion was going to occur today anyway.


So anyway, so that was the only reason I wanted to lay that out so that everybody understood what the to and fro was over the weekend and didn't take anybody by surprise.


Okay?  So we will take a break.  We will await, Mr. Nettleton, your -- for you to let us know when you are ready.


MR. NETTLETON:  Could I suggest that the communication that took place between Mr. Thompson, Mr. Millar, and, I believe, each of the Board members was on that communication be put on the record then and parties are then given the opportunity to review it?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  And that could coordinate with the time that I need right now so we could start that process.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, I was just about go over that with Mr. Millar as to how he saw that best happening, so perhaps we could do that offline, Mr. Millar, and that will be circulated as soon as possible.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excuse me, Mr. Chairman, sorry, Mr. Nettleton suggested that just the communication from the Panel to him would be put on the record?


MR. QUESNELLE:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I assumed that the whole set of communications would --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yeah, I took it that he had expanded that.  I understood his definition to be any communication, and it started with Mr. Millar saying, 'I just spoke with Mr. Nettleton.  What can the Panel do to assist me?'  That's the starting point.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yeah.  Okay?  Okay.  Let's go about that, and we will commence as soon as you are ready, Mr. Nettleton.

--- Recess taken at 9:52 a.m.
--- On resuming at 10:33 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, please be seated.  Mr. Nettleton, you have had an opportunity to speak with your client?


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes, sir.  We are prepared to proceed and have this panel speak to the questions that Mr. Thompson has set out, and any others that the Panel or other parties have.

I think that the exchange of these e-mails have shown that there is some concern that the witnesses here can provide as fulsome answers as may be requested.  But I think they will have to be -- if that is the case, then they will proceed by way of undertaking.  It's just a question of degree and time required to get the information.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Now that there has been -- Mr. Millar told me that there has been a distribution of the exchange over the weekend, so parties have had an opportunity the see that.


We would suggest it best to proceed with people having an awareness of the questions that were asked, but we haven't received the answers.  But if that assists you in guiding your cross-examination, we can go that way as opposed to having all of those questions answered first.


But I will leave that to you, Mr. Nettleton.  Do you have a suggestion as to --


MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, in terms of the order?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  Our preference would be -- and I will put it out as a preference.  We'd prefer that we just carry on in the normal course, where there be cross-examination and this panel be available for cross-examination by the parties.  And if there is anything that we want to further explore at the end, the Panel will do so in its normal course.


MR. NETTLETON:  It's your process.  I am in your hands, and that sounds like a very reasonable approach.


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right, let's do that.  The other thing is we've got, you know, the three areas that we want to discuss and have further examination on with this panel; I think that's been already articulated.

Maybe I will just canvass the parties that have suggested that they have cross-examination for this morning, and get an idea of what areas, if not all, so that we could come up with a semblance -- because I think that would probably be best to maybe do this by subject matter.  I don't know, or maybe that's going to be attempting to be too surgical with this.


So I'm open to suggestions.  If people have any comments on -- Mr. DeRose?


MR. DeROSE:  I was just going to indicate we have talked amongst ourselves and what we were going to suggest -- we're obviously in your hands -- is Mr. Shepherd was going to go first.  Mr. Shepherd has questions, as you know, on the deferred tax asset.

I was then going to go second.  My questions are entirely on the chronology IPO November draft business plan figures.  And I believe then others were going to follow from thereon with the two of us -- Mr. Shepherd setting deferred tax asset issue.

Mr. Rubenstein does have a few questions on the chronology that he was going to follow with Mr. Shepherd, so that SEC stays whole.

But I think that directionally was what we were going to suggest, if that is fine with you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I think that will work.  Let's go on that basis then.  So, Mr. Shepherd, if you start off then.

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - STRATEGY PANEL, resumed
Michael Vels,

Mike Penstone,
Glendy Cheung; Previously Affirmed
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  My name is Jay Shepherd; I am co-counsel with Mr. Rubenstein for the School Energy Coalition.


I do have a compendium, which I would ask be put in evidence.


MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd.  Does this panel need to be re-sworn?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.


MR. NETTLETON:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  This will be Exhibit K11.1.

EXHIBIT No. K11.1:  Cross-Examination Compendium of SEC for the strategy panel


MR. SHEPHERD:  This was provided to everybody yesterday, and everything in it is on the record.  I have four sort of general points I want to deal with.  The first relates to the accounting for the revaluation, the deemed disposition.

I am right -- I guess these questions are for you, Ms. Cheung, yes?  Probably.


MR. VELS:  Just two things.  Firstly, if you wouldn't mind, Mr. Shepherd, just speaking up.  We have having a little trouble hearing you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am trying.  My voice isn't --


MR. VELS:  All right.  And then, I guess secondly, if you could just let me know what the question is, and we will work out on our end who is best to answer it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So when the province sold 10 percent of Hydro One's shares, you had a deemed disposition of all your assets, depreciable and non-depreciable.  And that deemed disposition was actually two, right?  One under the Electricity Act and another under the federal Income Tax Act, right?

MS. CHEUNG:  The deemed disposition occurred under the federal act and as part of the Electricity Act.  It is one deemed disposition.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't there a deemed disposition under the Electricity Act to calculate the departure tax, and then a deemed disposition under the federal Income Tax Act when you entered that system?


MS. CHEUNG:  The Electricity Act refers to the deemed disposition in the federal act.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that deemed disposition all happens at once, right?  It's one transaction?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So under the Electricity Act, the deemed disposition creates income and taxes payable to the province, and some of it is recaptured and some of it is taxed as capital gains, right?


MS. CHEUNG:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We have seen that in J1.3; there is a calculation which we will come to.  Under the federal Income Tax Act, there is no tax.  It's simply your starting base for taxation under the federal act, right?

MS. CHEUNG:  Can you just repeat the question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Under the federal act, there is no tax to be paid federally.  What you have is a starting point, because you're entering the system, and so you enter at fair market value, right?  That's the point of the deemed disposition?

MS. CHEUNG:  So when Hydro One, more than 10 percent was sold, or Ontario has sold more than 10 percent of the shares of Hydro One as a whole, it ceased to be -- it ceased -- it had departed the PILs regime.  At that time, all the assets were sold or deemed disposed at fair market value.  And then all the assets will be reacquired at fair market value under the federal regime.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There you go.

MS. CHEUNG:  Departure tax will be paid under PILs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And so at the time of that deemed disposition, there's actually two sets of accounting entries, right?  There is one set that creates the tax liability, and you are going to owe some PILs, some departure tax.  And there is another set that creates the deferred tax asset, right?

MS. CHEUNG:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  In theory, those two amounts are the same, right?

MS. CHEUNG:  They are different because there's two different valuations were used to calculate those amounts.  One was an estimate, and one was more of an actuals at the time the departure occurred.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to come to the differences between the two amounts.

MS. CHEUNG:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But in theory, the idea is that they are the same and they offset each other, right?


MS. CHEUNG:  They might not be the same because the departure tax calculates capital gains and the deferred tax asset is based on the difference between fair market value and tax cost.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the tax liability is an immediate requirement to pay.  But the deferred tax asset is the value of the future tax benefit over time, right?


MR. VELS:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not net present value.  It's actually the calculation of what those taxes would be in the future, right?


MS. CHEUNG:  It's not net present value.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  So I looked at your annual report to find those amounts -- because they are big amounts, right?  You would expect them to be in your 2015 statements -- and they are not anywhere in the income tax statement -- in the income statement.

And so the conclusion I reach -- and tell me whether this is right -- is that the ability to pay the tax, which is like a payable, is charged to other comprehensive income, and the deferred tax asset is credited to other comprehensive income; they offset in OCI.  Is that right?  That's the accounting entry.


MR. VELS:  If you'd like the full accounting entry, we'd be happy to provide that by way of undertaking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine.  But I guess I am wondering whether my simple description is materially inaccurate.


MR. VELS:  I think we will reserve on that, and we will provide -- if this is what you are asking -- all of the accounting entries related to the booking of these assets and liabilities.  It is a complicated transaction, as you are correctly pointing out, and I would rather not answer your questions piecemeal.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I am trying to keep this as simple as possible, and I think most of the details of the accounting transactions are not really helpful to the Board.  But if the bulk of the entries are an offset in OCI, which I believe they are, I think that if Mr. Vels knows that he should tell you.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, your comments that predicated this panel's appearance was that you wanted the best record, that this was an important issue for the Board.  I am actually quite surprised that we are even having this discussion where the witness is offering up the opportunity to provide more information to approve and make sure you have the best record, and my friend is saying he doesn't want it.

So I think that, in fairness, sir, that Mr. Vels's request of providing this information on the record in this proceeding should be given, and it be taken by way of undertaking.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, I think what would be most helpful to this Panel, and looking at the record afterwards, would be the undertaking, but also an understanding as to how the further questions can be posed so that we can carry on with Mr. Shepherd's cross-examination.  So I think the details of it, Mr. Vels, we would appreciate it in that undertaking, we'll take one, but that there be an allowance for Mr. Shepherd to carry on on a premise at a high level, if that's acceptable.

MR. VELS:  Yes, it is.  I just want to reiterate that the entries and the accounting for this are very complicated, and I don't consider myself on the spur of the moment sufficiently qualified to give you a comprehensive answer on all of the accounting entries that were created as a result of this transaction.

So absolutely, if there a premise or if there are questions that I can answer with the confidence that I am providing you a full answer, I will absolutely do that.  If I can't, I will need to provide the information later.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My understanding from reading your financial statements is that the bulk of the entry is tax liability, OCI, on one side, and deferred tax asset and OCI on the other side.  Those are the two balancing entries.  I mean, I know there is a lot of other details, I get that, but the basic transaction is that; isn't that right?

MR. VELS:  I think maybe if you'd like, I would maybe point you to Exhibit I-09-002-01, and perhaps we can point out for you and show you where the entries are related to some of the IPO transactions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  While that's coming up, I take it we still would like to have the production of the undertaking, if we can give that a number.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, the undertaking is J11.1.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.1:  TO Update Board Staff IR 9.7

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, does Mr. Vels know whether the answer to my question is yes or no?  Because if he knows, maybe he could tell us first, and then we can go through the details.

MR. VELS:  The answer is no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, they don't go through OCI?


MR. VELS:  The answer is I do not know the answer to your question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I thought you were the chief financial officer.

MR. VELS:  I am the chief financial officer of the corporation.  As I explained to you -- and if you would perhaps go to this exhibit --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not up on the screen yet.

MR. VELS:  -- I'd show you at least the attempt that we made in the IPO to simplify these transactions and explain what the relevant entries were in the books of the company. It is a very complicated set of accounting entries.  As I have said before, I am not prepared to answer yes or no to your questions without having the ability to go back and check and ensure that all of the transactions that I am representing are correctly expressed by me in an answer.  I think that's a reasonable request.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't see anything in -- nothing is on screen yet that helps me.  Can you tell me what you are referring to?

MR. VELS:  It's on page F1-30.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Go ahead.

MR. VELS:  Okay, thank you.  So just to ensure I know where I am here.  So page F1-30, sorry.  About halfway up.  You will see under "deferred income-tax liabilities" --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not on our screens anymore.

MR. VELS:  I am sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There we go.

MR. VELS:  Could you let me know when it's on your screen?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, it's on the screen.

MR. VELS:  Okay, thank you.  So this is a pro forma consolidated set of financial statements that outline what the impact on the company's accounts would have been.  It's a reasonable proxy for all of the entries that were booked by the company at a top level, and clearly they are subsidiary accounting entries that were required to accomplish those.

But at least on a consolidated level, these are all the entries that the company would have made in its books of account, this one on a pro forma basis, but it does give you a fairly good understanding and an outline of the transactions that occurred.

So for example, we have a deferred income-tax liability halfway of up $1.380 million, beginning balance.  As you can see, that amount was extinguished by netting part of the deferred tax asset against it.

If you move across to the previous page, F1-29, there is a deferred income-tax asset balance, and the remainder of the $2.6 billion was raised as an asset on the balance sheet for a net balance once all of the entries were completed for 1451, which is a number we have discussed previously in this hearing.  That created -- was the creation of the asset on the balance sheet.

At the provincial level differently --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, can I just stop you for a second?

MR. VELS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you created that asset what was the corresponding debit?

MR. VELS:  So we would have to move to the income statement -- sorry, you mean on the balance sheet?  If you look down at the retained earnings line, down the bottom on page F1-30, there is several adjustments to retained earnings.  The one of $2.6 billion is an adjustment to retained earnings.  The explanation for that is outlined in note 2A, and I will read it:

"In connection with the offering, Hydro One's exemption from tax under the Income Tax Act (Canada) and the Taxation Act 2007 (Ontario) will cease the apply.  Under the Income Tax Act (Canada) and the Taxation Act 2007 (Ontario), Hydro One will be deemed to have disposed of its assets immediately before it loses its tax-exempt status for proceeds equal to the fair market value of those assets at that time.  Hydro One will be liable to make a payment in lieu of tax under the Electricity Act 1998 in respect of the income and capital gains calculated by reference to the Income Tax Act (Canada) that arises as a result of this deemed disposition.  The Minister of Finance, Hydro One -- sorry, the amount payable is generated for departure tax.  In the context of the public offering and with the consent of the Minister of Finance, Hydro One will be authorized to pay to the OEFC an amount that reasonably approximates the amount of the departure tax that will be payable by Hydro One in respect of the deemed disposition of its assets."

That is an explanation of the booking and the entries that were made through retained earnings and the assets and liabilities related to the departure tax, which is the cost the company paid and the related asset that it raised on its balance sheet, known as the fair -- as the bump or the deferred tax asset.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the deferred tax asset is really an asset and removal of the liability, and it goes in the equity line; right?  The corresponding entry is the equity line?  In this case retained earnings, rather than OCI; is that right?

MR. VELS:  I have outlined the transactions that were made.  The other entries related to the departure tax would be separate.  Again, I would prefer to provide you with a full accounting of that before I answer all those questions in full.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just cut to the chase here.

MR. VELS:  I would appreciate that, because I would just like to understand what it is that you are asking specifically.

MR. SHEPHERD:  At the point of time where the deemed disposition occurs, you haven't yet paid the tax, right?  You've just had the deemed disposition; you can't pay it immediately at the same time.

So you have a payable and you have an asset.  Those two are the same, roughly, and your assets have gone up and your liability has gone up by the same amount, right?  Roughly?

MR. VELS:  No, they haven't, because the calculation of the two amounts is different.  It doesn't have to be the same, and they are not the same.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They are different by a couple hundred million dollars, right?

MR. VELS:  Let's say, subject to check, that you are correct that they are different.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, so -- they are different by a couple of hundred million dollars, right?

MR. VELS:  Subject to check, they are different by a couple of hundred million dollars.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So subject to that difference, you have got an asset and a liability.  You haven't changed your net equity.  You have made some entries to the equity, but the actual amount of your shareholder's equity, total shareholders equity, has only changed by the difference between the asset and the liability.  Is that right?

Sorry, these actually set-up questions.  This should be a fairly simple question to answer, I thought.

MR. VELS:  And again, I don't think I am comfortable to answer those questions in detail, without reviewing all of the accounting and all of the transactions related to this.

I am sorry, Mr. Shepherd, but you are asking questions verbally that are very detailed, very complex, and I don't feel without preparation, that I am in a good position the answer them.

I do apologize for that.  But that is unfortunately the fact of the matter.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fine.  So I want to go to the second area, and that is at this point, once you have the deemed disposition, you have a tax liability and you have an asset.

The tax liability is a current liability.  You have to pay that right away.  But the asset is a deferred asset, so you are not going to get it right away.  So you have a problem; you need the $2.6 billion, right?  You have the find it somewhere?

MR. VELS:  So at the time of the transaction, there a liability that arises, which is the departure tax.  It is exactly 2.6 billion.  The company is prepared to pay that; it's a cost to the company and it's required to pay it.

At the same time, you are correct, there is a deemed disposition under the income tax Canada act, which revalues the assets for tax purposes.  That asset, which is a result of the IPO and the shareholder transactions that occurred, is an asset that is available to the company relative to the cost that it incurred, which allows it to deduct, on a non-regulated basis, CCA over a period of time in the future and allows it to recover the cost via cash taxes of the cost that it incurred to pay the departure tax.  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in order to get the 2.6 billion dollars -- that wasn't my question.  My question was --


MR. VELS:  I am sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- you needed 2.6 billion dollars; you had to pay it, you didn't have the cash, right?  So the province came and said we'll inject 2.6 billion dollars of equity into Hydro One so you can pay the tax, right?

MR. VELS:  So the company made a number of -- I'm sorry, I am going to have to give you full answers.  The company made a number of transactions at the time.  There was about an $800 million dividend to the government and we had to pay the departure tax.

You are correct that there are two things we did at that time.  First of all, we recapitalized the company and increased our debt levels.  Secondly, we, through a subscription of shares or issuance of shares to the government, received $2.6 billion from the government via an equity issue, that is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I guess there's two ways to look at it.  Your evidence, as I understand it, is that the company needed money to pay a tax and the province provided it.  You could have asked for it from the ratepayers, you could have borrowed, but the smartest way to do it was to get an equity injection from the province to pay the tax.

That's the essence of your evidence in this proceeding, isn't that right?

MR. VELS:  No, it's not.  We have significantly more evidence in this proceeding; that is not the essence of it.

What you have asked me a question on is how did we finance the payment of the departure tax.  The payment of the departure tax was financed by an equity issue to the province.

In terms of essence of our evidence, I don't think I can agree that that's true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the other way to look at it, and Mr. Millar was driving at it on day two, is that the province simply waived the tax so you didn't have to pay it.  You can see how people would look at it that way, right?

MR. VELS:  Could you just rephrase that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you were cross-examined by Mr. Millar on day two of this proceeding, the proposition he was putting to you was that essentially the province waived the tax.  You owed them the money; they said no, you don't have to pay it, it's okay, and you did it by circulating cheques.

You can see how people would see it that way, right?

MR. VELS:  No, not really.  But could we go back to the transcript, so we could see what was asked and what was answered?

MR. SHEPHERD:  My estimate, Mr. Chair --


MR. VELS:  Mr. Shepherd, I don't recall people talking about waiving the tax.  Potentially, Mr. Millar did ask if the province waived the tax, or waived the obligation or the liability.  I don't recall that and if he did, I would just like to see the context in which it was asked and what the answer was.

MR. SHEPHERD:   Mr. Millar says -- this is page 28 of our compendium.  Mr. Millar says:
"So what happened was that the money to pay the departure tax was provided by Hydro One to the shareholder, and then I understand it's paid to OEFC.  That's who gets the 2.6 billion."

MR. VELS:  Sorry, what page is that?  Twenty-eight?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Twenty-eight.

MR. VELS:  So this transcript explains, as I understand it, that the departure tax was paid by Hydro One to the shareholder and to the OEFC.  Yes, that's what it says.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So he asked you there, and previously and subsequently that -- in a series of questions, he asked you, this money just went around the circle, right.  There was actually no net transaction, right?


Or I am asking you.  Forget Mr. Millar.  I am asking you.

MR. VELS:  With respect, sir, you did say that Mr. Millar asked that, and I just don't believe he did.  So you are asking me?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I will ask it.

MR. VELS:  Okay, thank you.  Could you rephrase the question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The money just went around in a circle, didn't it?

MR. VELS:  I don't believe so.  So I am not -- and at the risk of saying this, I am not an expert in provincial accounting.  But this is my understanding of what occurred.

So the company paid the departure tax to the province.  The province paid the cash to the OEFC.  However, the way the province accounts for this -- and it is important that the province is different -- the gain or the increase in the value of the company related to the departure tax is booked by the province as a gain.

That gain, and I refer you if you'd -- in terms of why and how I know this --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just clarify?

MR. VELS:  Sorry, if you wouldn't mind --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I may have misunderstood what you said.

MR. VELS:  If you wouldn't mind just not interrupting. I am just explaining what I understand happened at the province.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I didn't hear what you said, and I am asking for you to repeat.

MR. VELS:  Which part are you asking me to repeat? Sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought I heard you say the gain is booked as a gain by the province.  The gain on the payment of the departure tax?  I don't understand.

MR. VELS:  So first of all, the departure tax is paid by Hydro One to the province.  The province takes that cash, my understanding, and was required to pay it to the OEFC.

At the same time, the way the province accounts for this -- and it's outlined in more detail and probably in a more simple way than I can explain it -- in the 2015/16 public accounts for Ontario, in the financial accountability office's report entitled "An assessment of the financial impact of the potential sale of Hydro One on the province", and also in the 2015 and 2016 Ontario budget.

So there's a $22.6 billion, roughly, gain that the province realizes as a result of the set up of the departure tax -- sorry, the set up of the deferred tax asset.  That gain was transferred by the province into the Trillium trust.  The expectation at the time of the province is that by doing that, it gave the province the authority and the ability to invest that money into infrastructure.

The province, from a cash perspective -- and the province is now by necessity required to recover that through incremental tax deductions, and the cash that it will recover from its investment in Hydro One.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. VELS:  The cost of that is the departure tax.  The province could have retained the cash and effectively had that money available in its treasury.  Because it was required to recapitalize the company, instead of having that money available to it, which it would normally have had, because the departure tax is income and is cash received by the province, it needed in order to retain the value of the company that was there prior to the transaction and restore the value of the company post the departure tax payment, it needed to recapitalize the company, and did so by way of shares.

So the cost to the province of retaining the value of the company both pre and post the IPO was effectively the recapitalization of the money and the money it was required to put into the company to ensure that we were able to continue to operate without impairment to the company.

Those costs effectively are now included in the valuation of the province's shares.  The province can now recover that cost either by selling its shares to another shareholder who will now receive a share which has that cost embedded in it, or, if it continues to hold the shares, it will be required -- or the company will be required to realize that deferred tax asset which, as you correctly pointed out, will be recovered over time, and the cash that will be returned to the company will offset the cost that the province had to incur to recapitalize the company in order to keep it whole.

I really do apologize for the long question (sic), but I think it's important, as you've asked what the provincial government's accounting was and whether it was a circular cash trail.  I don't believe it was.  The money goes to different places.  The accounting by the province is different, and the decision by the province to recapitalize the company is in fact the cost to the province of the transaction.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you finished?

MR. VELS:  Yes, I have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So let's just unpack that.

There was a payment of the departure tax to the province, you say, who then paid it to the Trillium trust; is that right?

MR. VELS:  No, I didn't say that.  I said --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay --


MR. VELS:  -- it was paid to the OEFC.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?

MR. VELS:  I said it was paid to the OEFC.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, what's the Trillium trust then?  Where does that come in?  I thought you said the departure tax went to the Trillium trust.

MR. VELS:  No, I said the gain that the province realizes on the setup of the deferred tax asset, that gain is credited to the Trillium trust, and it is that that provides the government in its budget with the ability to use the Trillium trust to invest in infrastructure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So do we have evidence on that in this proceeding?  Because I don't recall seeing the reference to the Trillium trust in any of the evidence.

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, Mr. Chairman, the fact is, is that, as I have said before, there has been only one interrogatory asked on this whole topic area until this oral proceeding.  So if Mr. Shepherd wants to see the report that Mr. Vels referred to that shows that accounting entry, I am sure that Mr. Vels would oblige.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  I was just --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was a simple question:  Is it in the record of the proceeding or not?

MR. QUESNELLE:  If it is --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's yes-no question.

MR. NETTLETON:  The answer is no, but it can be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. NETTLETON:  Would you like it, sir?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Not yet, maybe later.  Unless the Panel would like to see it.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think we would like it on the record, Mr. Shepherd, thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. VELS:  Can I just be clear?  There were three documents?  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  So Mr. Chair, that is J11.2.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.2:  TO PROVIDE DOCUMENTATION REGARDING TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING THE TRILLIUM TRUST.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's correct, isn't it, that you paid the departure tax to OEFC, they took the money, and they paid down the province's debt; right?

MR. VELS:  So we paid the money to the province, the province paid it to OEFC --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, sorry, let me stop you.  Did you pay it to the province or OEFC?  Because your evidence is you paid it to OEFC.

MR. VELS:  Oh, I'm sorry, yes, we paid it to OEFC.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And OEFC then is required to use it to pay down the debt, right?  That's also your evidence.

MR. VELS:  That is our understanding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that's one side of the transaction.  Then the province has to write a cheque for $2.6 billion.  Where did they get that money?

MR. VELS:  I don't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, they are running a deficit.  Presumably they got it by borrowing it, right?

MR. VELS:  I don't know how the province financed that, and I really don't think I should speculate on how they would have financed the payment to us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fine.  Fine.  You see -- and Mr. Vels, were you at the closing of this transaction when all this money moved around?

MR. VELS:  Our lawyers were present at the closing of the transaction, and they were responsible for all of the schedules and the relevant legal documentation that underlies all of the transactions that occurred in this IPO.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Were you at the transaction?  Were you at the closing?  Again, it's a yes-no question.  I don't actually care whether your lawyers were there.

MR. VELS:  So I am not a lawyer, and so my understanding, there is a fairly complicated series of closings where I am a signatory to some of the closing documents and some that I am not.

If your question is which closing documents did I sign and which ones didn't I, I could find out and provide that by way of an undertaking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't ask that question.  When I --


MR. VELS:  Well, unfortunately I can't say yes or no without qualifying it in terms of which part of the closing, what part was I responsible for in terms of signing and which I wasn't.  The transaction is very complicated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here is what I am trying to understand.

MR. VELS:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you do corporate deals often you have to move money around that -- and it ends up back in the same place, and so what often happens is that you get what's called a daylight loan.  Do you know what a daylight loan is?

MR. VELS:  A bridge loan?  Is that what you are referring to?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it's referred to in corporate transactions as a daylight loan, but a bridge loan, a loan that's less than one day.  You are familiar with that, right?

MR. VELS:  I am familiar with bridge financing, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And so you get that -- you get a bank to give you $2.6 billion, the province, for example, or Hydro One even gets a bank to give you $2.6 billion, you hand it to the province.  The province then hands you a cheque for $2.6 billion.  You give it back to the bank.  It takes like five minutes.

Is that what happened here?

MR. VELS:  I would have to check on that and provide those details.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't recall whether the $2.6 billion was an exchange of cheques?

MR. VELS:  I can tell you that the money was transferred by wire transfer.  In terms of the exact timing and scheduling of all of the cash transfers, no, I can't give you that detail off the top of my head.  I do not have it available to me, and -- that documentation available to me right now, and I can't provide that answer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me move on.  This is not really productive.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Do you require that answer, though, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I will get to it another way, Mr. Chairman, I hope.  Or perhaps somebody else will.

The -- I want you to look at page 21 of our materials, Mr. Vels.  This is page 33 of the transcript for Day 1.  It's your direct evidence.  And it says that the shareholder put in the $2.6 billion to maintain the valuation of the shares.  Is that right?  Do I understand that correctly?

MR. VELS:  That's what it says, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you look at page 2 of our materials, this is your response to Undertaking J1.3.  You say that the province's equity did not increase the book value or equity value of HOL, it reinstated the value of HOL to what it was immediately prior to the payment of the departure tax.  Do you see that?

MR. VELS:  Yes, thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So now, that's not entirely correct; is it?  Can you take a look at page -- actually, what it was is not to maintain the existing valuation, it's actually to increase the valuation of Hydro One; isn't that right?  By $2.6 billion.

MR. VELS:  So my understanding is that the value of the company would have and was reduced by the value of the departure tax that was paid, because it is a cost to the company, reduces the retained earnings of the company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it also offset -- was offset by the deferred tax asset; right?

MR. VELS:  I'm sorry --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the net was zero.

MR. VELS:  Sorry, I see where you are going.  So the cash that we required by an equity issuance was necessary to ensure that the value of the company did not deteriorate because of the impact on our balance sheet and the impact of the departure tax on our credit ratings, for example.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But when you say here that the book value and the equity value didn't change, that's not right, is it?

MR. VELS:  Could you just point me to that, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  On page 2, I showed you, page 2, "did not increase the book value or equity value of HOL."

MR. NETTLETON:  What line are you at, sir?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Line 25.  So that's not right, is it?

MR. VELS:  Well, it says that the recapitalization of the company following the payment of the departure tax did not increase the book value or equity value for HOL.  It reinstated the value of HOL to what it was immediately prior to the payment of the departure tax.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's not true, is it?  I am going to take you to your statement.

MR. VELS:  It would depend again on the timing of the entries, and the relative book values of the company relative to the time of the departure tax and the set up of the deferred tax asset.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  Take a look at page 14 of our materials.  This is your 2015 balance sheet, isn't it?  You recognize this, right?  Do you see that?

MR. VELS:  I am on page 14, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So did your equity stay the same, or did it go up?

MR. VELS:  Did my equity stay the same, or did it go up from when?

MR. SHEPHERD:  At the end of 2014, it went up to
9.8 --


MR. VELS:  Sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  At the 2014, it was 7.5.  It went up to 9.8, even after you paid a dividend equal to and all of your earnings.

MR. VELS:  So these are two different time periods. 2014 was prior -- so the equity balance between 2014 and 2015 has increased, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it increased because of the $2.6 billion the government put in, isn't that right?  Again, it's yes-no question.

MR. VELS:  The value of the equity was increased when we -- when the government subscribed for shares, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And -- all right.  So if the equity investment increased the value -- now, you've been saying it maintained the value.  But it actually increased the value, right, of the company?

MR. VELS:  Yes, it was required to increase the value.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now the tax you paid, you didn't include that in your tax expense, did you, in your financial statements?

MS. CHEUNG:  In the income statement of the annual report on page 15 of your package --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. CHEUNG:  -- the 2.6 billion departure tax would have been booked in the current income tax line of that 2.9 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, this is not your income statement now, is it?  That's a note.

MS. CHEUNG:  Oh that's a note, sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So can you show us on page 12, your income statement, where it shows.

MS. CHEUNG:  So on page 12, income tax line for 2015 was 105 million.  That's net of current and deferred taxes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And but the reason why it doesn't show that you had an expense there is because you don't include things that are not rate regulated in your income statement, do you?

MS. CHEUNG:  Non-rate-regulated items would be included in this expense line for future taxes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then why do you -- if you look at page 9 of our materials, you say, well, we are concerned about FFO.  You know what FFO is, right?  Funds from operations.

MR. VELS:  Yes, I know what it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You say, well, our FFO was really bad in 2015 because we had the pay all this tax.  But that's not really our real FFO, so we are going to adjust for it; isn't that right?

MR. VELS:  Well, that is incorrect.  Our -- and I hesitate to use the word "real", but our FFO was negative 1.479.  We showed the impact on that FFO of the deferred -- sorry, of the departure tax payment in order that shareholders could see a comparable number between 2014 and 2015, as 2014 did not include a departure tax payment of that magnitude.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The equity injection from the province, $2.6 billion, the province had shares prior to that time, right?

MR. VELS:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They owned a hundred percent of the company.

MR. VELS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they then gave you $2.6 billion for more shares.  But they still just had a hundred percent, right?

MR. VELS:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the value of the company went up by the same $2.6 billion, right?  That's what happened in that transaction.

MR. VELS:  Well, we issued equity, so the value of the equity increased, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So they got 2.6 billion dollars worth of shares for their money.

MR. VELS:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if the value of the hundred percent of the company they had before was, let's say, $15 billion and they gave you 2.6 billion, after the transaction their 100 percent was worth 17.6; is that right?

MS. CHEUNG:  Well, soon after they pay the departure tax of 2.6 billion, so the company would have been down by another 2.6.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, it wouldn't be, would it?  Because we just looked at the equity at the end of the year -- this is after the departure tax is paid, right?  The departure tax was paid before the end of 2015?

MS. CHEUNG:  Pardon me?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The departure tax was paid by December 31st, '2015, is that right?

MS. CHEUNG:  It was paid soon after Hydro One departed the PILs regime, so a matter of days.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, it was a yes-no question.  The departure tax was paid before December 31st, 2015, is that right?

MR. VELS:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So if your equity went up by that 2.6 billion dollars at the end of the year, that means that paying that departure tax didn't reduce their value, did it?

MR. VELS:  Sorry, the equity didn't go up at the end of the year.  The equity was issued to the province prior to the completion of the IPO, at the time the departure tax was paid.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your portraying to this Board that the province paid the departure -- paid the equity, and you paid the departure tax, and everybody was in the same position as before.  But that isn't true, is it?

MR. VELS:  No, so I -- what we are portraying is that there was a transaction that was created by the shareholder, that resulted in both payment of a departure tax, as you correctly pointed out, the necessity to raise and show a deferred tax asset on the balance sheet, and then we needed to finance the cash required to pay the departure tax, and issued shares to the province to fund that.  That's what we are representing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Could we go back to page 2 of our materials, before we leave the equity.  When you did the IPO, the market value of the company was -- it says here was based on the equity return.  And I think you have said somewhere else that you actually used discounted future cash flow, right?

MR. VELS:  We used DCF, or discounted cash flow, to value the company, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, Mr. Chairman, I am assuming that we are not going to have a break because we have already had lots of them.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I'll ask the court reporter.  Are you okay?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am trying to get through this as fast as possible, but as you can see, it's taking longer than I thought.  I will try to do my best; I will change how I am wording my questions.

So now going forward, you have a tax calculation which is at page 7 of our materials, it's J2.10.  Do you have that?  And I couldn't figure out these numbers until I realized this is just transmission; right?  This doesn't include -- this is not including the whole impact of the departure tax and the deferred tax asset, it's only the transmission impact; right?

MS. CHEUNG:  Are we looking at the corporate minimum tax or the departure tax "calc"?  I think you said page 2.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am talking about, going forward, what your taxes will be, so this shows what your taxes will be going forward; right?  On page 7.

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  And I also thought it appears like you are saying, well, our taxes would be 35.9 million, but instead they are going to be 12.2 million, but that's not right; is it?

MS. CHEUNG:  So this schedule calculates the Ontario income tax and the corporate -- Ontario corporate minimum tax and compares the two.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  But there is also the federal tax; right?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the total that you would pay, if it weren't for the deferred tax asset, in 2017 would be 81.3 million, right?  That's the number in your application.

MS. CHEUNG:  Can you refer back to the exhibit for that number?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am sorry, I don't have it in front of me.  The number has been thrown around like 20 times in the last week, and it's in your evidence.  Will you accept subject to check that your application is asking for $81.3 million --


MR. VELS:  Well, I think if it's in the evidence why don't we just go to it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because I don't know where it is.

MR. VELS:  Oh, okay.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Shepherd, part of the issue is that there have been updates to the evidence, and one of the updates has been this number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. NETTLETON:  So if you give us a minute, if you don't have the reference to the number that you are using in your cross-examination --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I do not.

MR. NETTLETON:  -- then we can help you if you give us a minute, but I don't think it's necessary to be so pejorative to the witness, okay?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am sorry, I am not getting straight answers, and it's very difficult cross-examination.

MR. VELS:  It is in Exhibit C1, tab 4, Schedule 4, page 1.  It's referred to in our question 9.

MR. NETTLETON:  And I am just wanting to make sure, sir, that that's the updated number, because there have been updates to it.

MR. VELS:  We have three schedules roughly that all change the number, so it is a difficult schedule, and I would just like to make sure that for the evidence we are referring to the correct schedule.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you would rather use 81.9?  The difference doesn't matter.  For the point we are talking about --


MR. NETTLETON:  I think the record does matter, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We are admonished by the Board periodically for not going after things that are not material.  The difference between 81.9 and 80.3 is not material.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I suppose that what is important, Mr. Shepherd, is that we have it in the right context, and I haven't followed the reason for the update, but if the updated number is 81.9, let's use that in the context it was provided.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that the right number, 81.9?

MS. CHEUNG:  That's the last update.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So what you are proposing to collect from the ratepayers is $81.9 million plus the gross-up for that; right?

MR. VELS:  What do you mean by "gross-up"?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you have to collect a gross amount in order to have money for taxes, right, because the money you collect is also taxed.

MR. VELS:  Well, the way our revenue requirement is calculated is we recover the actual amount of taxes paid on the regulated assets based on our tax calculations.  I believe that's the way the revenue requirement is calculated, subject to correction.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Really?  I have never seen a utility that did that.

So when you get the $81.9 million in rates, you have to pay tax on it; right?

MS. CHEUNG:  So in our model we do a circular "calc".  It does go through this calculation.  It goes through many iterations to determine the revenue requirement for tax.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is grossed-up.

MS. CHEUNG:  I don't have the calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't need it.  So is that 81.9 the grossed-up number or the net number?

MR. VELS:  This is the tax that we would recover from customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are proposing to collect some number that is at least $81.9 million from ratepayers, but in 2017 you're actually expecting to pay $12.2 million in tax; right?  That's what page 7 says; isn't that right?

MS. CHEUNG:  The calculation that was prepared for corporate minimum tax was an illustration for -- as a legal entity for Hydro One Networks we will be paying minimum tax.  But based on the calculation for taxable income from regulatory purposes we have taxable income, and that tax, Ontario tax, for that taxable income for regulatory purposes is in excess of the Ontario minimum tax.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You lost me.  You are collecting from the ratepayers 81.9 million, right?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are not sure whether that's the grossed-up number or not.  I think Mr. Vels says it's not the grossed-up number, but I think you've said it is.

MS. CHEUNG:  It runs through an iteration of calculation.  I am not -- our other group prepares the calculation, so --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  So you are going to collect, let's say, 81.9 million.  You are actually not going to pay 81.9 million in tax for 2017; are you?  You are actually going to pay 12.2 million.

MR. VELS:  No.  So again, I just want to be clear.  And I think this will help.  The number's illustrative in terms of what we will actually pay will be based on a calculation of taxable income at the Hydro One Networks Inc. level at the end of the year.

But for the purposes -- if you wouldn't mind me presuming, for the purpose of where you are going here, I think your point is that the amount of taxes that we would be including in rates is greater than the amount that we would pay.  I think that's --


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the amount you are going to pay is a small fraction of -- you expect it's going to be a small fraction, because you have enough shelter to cover everything off except minimum tax; right?

MR. VELS:  Yes, that's correct, because we pay the minimum tax, as you pointed out, and we will utilize the deductions arising from the deferred tax asset, which is a non-regulated deduction that's made at the HONI level, and that reduces the consolidated legal entity's taxes, and as a result we do pay less taxes at the legal entity level because we are making use of the tax shield that arises from the deferred tax asset that arose as a result of the IPO transaction and is unrelated to the regulated assets upon which we usually deduct CCA and which is the basis for our revenue requirement both before and after the IPO.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you refer to "on a legal entity basis", the legal entity is the company that is regulated by this Board; right?

MR. VELS:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's a legal entity, but it's also regulated by this Board; right?

MS. CHEUNG:  Well, the legal entity composed of three segments:  the transmission, distribution, and our non-regulated segment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you have allocated this tax deduction to the non-regulated, even though it actually arises out of the assets that are used in the regulated segment; right?

MR. VELS:  No, it doesn't.  It arises from the deemed disposition and the revaluation for tax purposes, not for regulatory purposes, of the assets that we utilize to provide the service to ratepayers.  So it is different.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are going to have extra deductions on the regulated assets --


MR. VELS:  On the revaluation of the regulated asset; that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it's the same assets; right?  Is it different assets?

MR. VELS:  No, they're the same assets.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Same assets, right?  So you are going to have more deductions than you've used in your calculation before this Board, you are going to have more deductions, but the ratepayers will not get the benefit of that; right?

MR. VELS:  The ratepayers will not get the benefit of the element that is not related to the usual CCA deduction.  Equally, we -- they will not be charged the cost, the $2.6 billion cost, that was expended by the company in departure taxes that arose -- that was one of the results of the transaction that gave rise to the creation of the deferred tax asset.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you weren't charged it either, right, because the province just gave the money right back to you.

MR. VELS:  No, we had to pay the departure tax.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they gave it back to you.

MR. VELS:  There is a difference between an expense and a cost to the company, and a recapitalization of the company required to pay the cash.  They are different.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you have talked about this tax break being around for five years, but it's actually going to be quite a bit longer than that; right?

MR. VELS:  We believe that the effect of the cash tax savings will last for at least five years.  It may well be longer; it depends on the level of taxable income in those five years.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the way I calculate it based on these -- on your estimate of taxable income and your statements, et cetera, it looks like you are going to save somewhere around $120 to $130 million in taxes for both regulated components for at least twenty years.  Is that reasonable?  Am I in the ballpark?

MR. VELS:  No.


MS. CHEUNG:  I don't understand your calculation.


MR. VELS:  I don't believe so.  So the deductions that arise from the deferred tax asset will last for some time, and effectively over the lives of the underlying assets.


In terms of the value of the cash taxes of those deductions, I can't tell you that it's twenty years.  I believe it is longer than five, which I think was your original question.  At the time that we made the estimate, we believed it was at least five.  But we would have to calculate that if you were interested in understanding how long and by how much.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When your auditors passed on the deferred tax asset on your balance sheet, you did a calculation for them of the deferred tax asset?


MR. VELS:  A calculation of the deferred tax asset?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  There was a worksheet, right?


MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, we calculated something, and our auditors reviewed that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that calculation has to demonstrate two things.  It has to demonstrate how much is the value of the asset based on current tax rates, right?  Is that true?

MS. CHEUNG:  Can you repeat that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The first thing it has to show, that calculation has to show, is the value of the asset based on current tax rates, right?

You take the deductions, you multiply them by the current tax rates, and you get a number, right?

MS. CHEUNG:  The deferred tax asset was calculated based on the value of the assets and the tax cost, and then times the tax rate, essentially.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You lost me there.


MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, I was kind of lost, too, from how you describing.  So maybe you can clarify.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a bump, right; you a bump in the value of the assets, right?  The deferred tax asset is the value of that bump -- that is the dollar, the extra deductions you are going to get because of the bump --multiplied by the tax rate today.  Is that right?

MS. CHEUNG:  It would be based on future tax rate, which is the same as the statutory rate right now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, okay.  So that's the first part.  You have to show them that.


But the second thing you have to show under US GAAP, tell me if this is right -- you are under US GAAP, right?


MR. VELS:  That's right.


MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the second thing you have to show is that that value will be realized during a period where you are able to realize it.  That is, that it won't expire, that it won't disappear over time, because you can't treat it as an asset unless you are going to be able to recover it, right?

MR. VELS:  Well, there needs to be an expectation that the asset will be realized through future tax deductions, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your calculation of the deferred tax asset shows both those things, right?

MR. VELS:  Umm --

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think you've seen the spreadsheet, right?


MR. VELS:  Sorry, which one you talking about?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The spreadsheet she just referred to.


MS. CHEUNG:  Well, obviously we had something in order to calculate in the undertakings, IRs, to determine what was the deferred tax asset for DX and TX -- I mean distribution and transmission.  So we do have some calculations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I wonder if you could undertake to provide those.


MR. VELS:  Can I just be clear on what we are undertaking to provide?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are undertaking to provide the calculation of the deferred tax asset, either -- the better one would be the one Ms. Cheung just referred to, which is the one that splits up transmission and distribution for the purposes of this proceeding.  But I'd also like to see the one that was approved by your auditors.


MR. VELS:  So we will undertake to provide the calculation of the deferred tax asset.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's not what I asked.


MR. VELS:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  First of all, there is a document that was prepared and reviewed by your auditors.  I would like to see that.


Secondly, there was a more detailed calculation just referred to, to split it between distribution and transmission for the purposes of this proceeding.  I'd like to see that.

Those are existing documents, right?  I am not asking you to make a new document.  I'd prefer not to see a new document.  I'd prefer the see the documents that have already been prepared.

MR. VELS:  I'm just concerned about your first request.  Is it you are asking for a document that was reviewed and approved by our auditor?   I'd just really like it to be specific in terms of what the calculation is that you are asking for -- and I apologize if I am misunderstanding.


I just want to be absolutely crystal as to what the calculation is that you are looking for.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Ms. Cheung said a document was prepared that calculated the deferred tax asset, and it was provided to the auditors who reviewed it.  Is that right?

MS. CHEUNG:  That would be part of our tax provision working papers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I would like that working paper.

MR. VELS:  Can we discuss this separately, at least, and get back and understand if we can provide it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would you not be able to provide it?


MR. VELS:  It's a very detailed set of working papers and the spreadsheets, and understanding that you would like a simple answer, I am not sure if we need to actually summarize and prepare it to a point of quality that it could be entered into evidence, or if it is a series of very complex and detailed spreadsheets that show other information that we may choose not to provide to this hearing.


I don't know the answer.  I have not reviewed the document myself.  I am just nervous about agreeing to provide an existing document that may not provide your answer.


MR. SMITH:  Ms. Cheung has seen the document, right?


MS. CHEUNG:  Well, it's a very detailed document.  I don't know what you are trying to achieve by looking at each different classes in our calculations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I will tell you what, can I suggest this?  If you think it's too complicated for us to understand, then please provide the document with a summary.


MR. NETTLETON:  Well, Mr. Chairman, my understanding from the list of questions that Mr. Thompson provided over the weekend was this is touching on the same area of "give us the background calculations to the deferred tax asset."  And my response, that's now on the record, is that it's going to take time to do that.

So what I want to understand with respect to Mr. Shepherd's request of getting the specific documents and detailed working papers that were provided to Hydro One's auditors, why he would think that is essential for purposes of his cross-examination, or for purposes of his position, as opposed to having a document that provides detail regarding the calculation.


It strikes me that the latter is what is of interest, or should be of interest to the Board.  The fact it was provided to Hydro One's auditor or not does not seem to be the relevant issue here.  It's understanding the calculation.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, everything that I have seen on the record in this proceeding relating to the deferred tax asset appears to us to have a sort of spin attached to it -- and I don't mean that in a pejorative way.  It's trying to present the best foot forward from the company.


I understand why they do that, but that's why the Board allows us to ask for original documents.  Original documents can't have that spin; they have to just be straightforward, tell the truth.  And it may be that it's so complicated that our brains will explode, but if -- and if that's the case, then fine, give us a summary.

But don't say that there's a document that exists that gives us information that relates to this proceeding, but the Board can't see it.  That's not right.

Mr. Nettleton asked what am I going to use it for.  The whole purpose of this is so that I can then estimate, because they are not going to tell me -- that I can then estimate how much they're going to ask the ratepayers to pay every year for how many years that they are not paying in taxes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, my friend has made the suggestion, the implied suggestion at least, that the evidence that Hydro One is going to be providing is something less than the truth, and I take great exception to that.

The fact is that all of the evidence that has been provided in this record, and all of the evidence and testimony that Hydro One is providing, is under oath.  It's been adopted, and we are very mindful of the oath that these witnesses and this company has been given.

So I take great exception to that suggestion.


I think that what Mr. Shepherd is after and should be after for the purposes of this proceeding is understanding the calculation.  The calculation can be provided.  I see no reason why we have to go the added step of saying, Let's get your auditors involved.


MR. QUESNELLE:  No, I don't think that that's what's being asked for, Mr. Nettleton, it was the original document.  Your witness did provide the evidence that there is a document that was used in this context, and I mentioned again my earlier comment that context matters in a lot of this, and to the extent that this was provided to the external auditor for review, that document, if it contains more information than we need for this particular purpose and it can be dealt with through the summary, through an explanation, I think Mr. Shepherd has the -- wants it for his cross -- or his argument in the context that it was provided, I think that's fair, and that's not unusual.  It's certainly not unusual to have that original document.

MR. NETTLETON:  It's a question of timing, sir.  It is unusual for this information -- it is unusual, sir, that this type of information is coming up at the late hour that it is.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, I think -- I will address this now -- late relative to what?  Because I think this Panel is prepared to stay on this issue until we are satisfied that we have enough to render a decision, so the current schedule and the current argument schedule is -- we place that in abeyance right now until we are satisfied that we have a sufficient record to move forward.

So to the extent that -- Mr. Shepherd, I believe there was perhaps two documents that you suggested.  The one was the original working documents, working papers, that would have gone to the external auditors for review on an aggregate sense.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And then a further calculation that had been done for the purpose of this proceeding that would separate between transmission and distribution.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, can we have that undertaking?

MR. MILLAR:  It's J11.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.3:  TO PROVIDE THE ORIGINAL WORKING DOCUMENTS, WORKING PAPERS, THAT WOULD HAVE GONE TO THE EXTERNAL AUDITORS FOR REVIEW ON AN AGGREGATE SENSE; AND THEN the FURTHER CALCULATIONS THAT HAD BEEN DONE FOR THE PURPOSE OF THIS PROCEEDING THAT WOULD SEPARATE BETWEEN TRANSMISSION AND DISTRIBUTION.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So on this -- and Mr. Chairman, time check -- and I know that this is now the longest I have ever gone over in my whole career here.  I think I can do the rest in ten minutes, touching wood somewhere.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Please proceed, thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You did a -- have you done the calculation of what the rate impact is of collecting this money and this excess over time?  Have you done that calculation?

MR. VELS:  No, we have not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why not?

MR. VELS:  I believe we answered this in an interrogatory, and again, I am not sure I can pull it up, because I don't remember the number.  But --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't see it.  If you answered it, I didn't see it.

MR. VELS:  Could you just give me a second?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. VELS:  I am not trying to mess up your time, I promise.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wasn't there only one interrogatory on deferred tax asset?

MR. VELS:  So it's Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 134, and it's on page 3.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. VELS:  And we were asked if we would provide that calculation.  Our answer was that it hasn't -- that analysis has not been performed, as it would be inconsistent with the standalone benefits followed cost principle and the Board's handbook.

We would need to understand and work through how the cost would be recovered in rates at the same time, which I expect would be a difficult calculation.  We would need some level of guidance from the Board as to how we would reflect the recovery of the cost of this transaction in rates going forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not asking for that.  I am asking what the impact on rates is of the difference between what you are asking in taxes and what you are going to actually pay in taxes until the deferred tax asset is used up.

MR. VELS:  So we don't have that calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Would you accept that it's in the range of six-and-a-half percent?  Does that sound about right?

MR. VELS:  No, I can't accept that.  I think you would have to tell me what your calculations are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I will include it in my argument.

MR. VELS:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You did a valuation of the company, and you used discounted future cash flow; right?

MR. VELS:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you did the future cash flow, did you use expected net income -- or expected cash from operations less actual tax payable or deemed tax payable for regulatory purposes?

MS. CHEUNG:  We had an external provider who did the valuation.  So we are not in the position to give you, like, how that calculation was done.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know whether the benefit of the tax break was included in your valuation; is that what you are saying?

MR. VELS:  I would like to check it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, well, why don't we simplify it.  Why don't you just file the valuations.

MS. CHEUNG:  Pardon me?

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you can't give us the answer on the stand, just give us the valuation, and we will look for ourselves, okay?

MR. VELS:  Actually, I can provide you an undertaking to give you a specific answer to that question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I would rather have the -- if I am going get it by undertaking anyway, I would rather have the valuation.  That's what I am asking for.  Can I have the valuation, please?

MS. CHEUNG:  Which valuation?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The valuation that uses discounted future cash flow to value the company.

MR. VELS:  That is a calculation that was prepared by the province as a part of the IPO.  It is prepared by an outside expert.  It includes a significant amount of information that this company would consider to be confidential and material.

We are prepared, as I have outlined, to answer specific questions as to what the basis was.  More than happy to check on it, come back after the break and give you the answer.  I am just not prepared to provide an incorrect answer to you in the moment --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, what I am asking for is the actual valuation that used the discounted cash flow.  This will allow us to redo the calculation without the tax break to see what the impact is over time and to see what the impact was at the time of the issuance of the shares to the public.

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, Mr. Chairman, we are trying to find a solution to Mr. Shepherd's question that provides some balance here.  The fair market value calculation, the end result of that calculation, has been reported publicly.  It is in the public domain with respect to the prospectus.

What Mr. Shepherd has asked is what the specific aspect of that calculation that concerns the level of the CCA that was included in future periods for the purposes of that calculation.  What Mr. Vels has said is that all other aspects of that calculation he thinks contains confidential information and is a matter that has been party to or involved other parties, including the province.

I see no reason, sir, why the full valuation, calculation, or formula, or work product, or working papers associated with that calculation have any material value to Mr. Shepherd's request of the specific level of CCA that has been included in the calculation.  So I --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Nettleton, when you say "material value", is it -- it's my understanding that the lion's share of the valuation is based on the assets of the regulated companies; is it not?

MR. NETTLETON:  Perhaps Mr. Vels can clarify, because I don't know the answer to that question specifically.  I haven't seen a calculation.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Vels --


MR. VELS:  Valuation was required by the province to calculate departure tax, and then we used it to -- as a basis for agreeing the tax values with the CRA.

It's a combination of cash flows from both regulated and unregulated, so it's -- not obviously -- but it would include the cash flows that do stem from the regulated businesses as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have no objection, Mr. Chairman, if they want to file it in confidence.  I would understand why it would be in confidence.  But, you know, let's be realists.  There were pension funds and people like that who bought shares in this IPO.  They certainly saw this document, so lots of people have seen it, and what my friend is saying is, oh, but the regulator can't see it.

MR. VELS:  Can I just be clear?  That is a highly confidential document, and was not ever and will not be provided to any shareholder of this company, apart from actually, just to be clear, from the province at the time of the IPO, as the province required that as basis for the departure tax calculation.  It's a valuation of the company.  We would not provide that information to anybody outside the company on a normal-course basis.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Vels, is there any way which you would propose that this Board have the opportunity to have on the record here the underpinning of the valuations tied to the regulated companies and the asset thereof?

The question that's at play here obviously is one as to whether or not there's -- well, the company's evidence is that the benefits follow the cost on this, and we are talking about the benefit being identified as the bump-up in the valuation.

It's somewhat circular in that it comes right back to that, and if this Board is having to make a determination as to whether or not it accepts the proposition, then how do we measure, for lack of a better term, the inputs to that valuation and how they are associated with the assets?

MR. VELS:  So we can absolutely do that.  In fact, that was the track that I was going down with Mr. Shepherd.

We can definitely provide the basis of the valuation, the discount rates that we used, the basis of certain assumptions that will be helpful to him in providing the basis for his calculations.  We would be prepared to do that.

What we cannot provide is our future cash flows, our estimates of profitability, without some significant discussion.  But I don't think that's what he is looking for.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am actually looking for the future cash flows and how they were calculated.  That's exactly what I am looking for, because that's how you value the impact -- that's how you show the impact of the tax break on the valuation.  That's exactly what I am looking for. Look, the --


MR. VELS:  Sorry.  I thought your first question was a specific question to the valuation on what the estimate or the assumption was behind the cash taxes that were included in the valuation.  What I said was I would endeavour to find that out in short order, and provide you the answer.

So if you have other questions like discount rates, we would be prepared to find that out, too, and provide that to you.  I didn't hear you ask for our future cash flows and that is not something I would actually undertake to provide.

MR. SMITH:  Actually, Mr. Chairman, I specifically said I want to be able to calculate and put in my argument the impact over time of this tax break, and you do that by taking the DCF calculation, with it and without it, and you can see year after year what the progression is going to be and for how many years.  That's the calculation I would like to do.

MR. QUESNELLE:  That's the premise of the cash flows from what?

MR. SHEPHERD:  From the regulated businesses.  I don't care about the unregulated businesses.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Is there a way to separate that out, Mr. Vels, and maintain the confidentiality of the unregulated business?

MR. VELS:  I really would need to check on this and come back to you.  The valuation doesn't specifically belong to the company.  We asked for a valuation from an outside expert, and I would have to work through the legalities of what I can and can't provide.

We have certain information that clearly we have inside the company relative to the assumptions and the inputs that went into that valuation.  I can provide those.

Whether or not I am in a position to actually provide the valuation itself, which is the property of our external expert, would require their approval and we would have to work through that with them.

So I am trying to be helpful and understand what it is that Mr. Shepherd is trying to do in terms of cash flows.  He could, you know, presumably assume cash flows into the future as long as he understands the basis upon which we calculated our cash taxes, discount rates, et cetera.  I assume he can reconstruct the calculation that he would use in argument.

I understand that's a little presumptuous, but we would have difficulty understanding and explaining to you at this point in time whether I could undertake to provide the valuation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, can I ask a question?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Please.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have a copy of the valuation?

MR. VELS:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Does Hydro One have a copy of the valuation?

MR. VELS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I think the rule is fairly clear.  If you have an expert do any valuation, or do any document, and you have it in your possession, you cannot say, oh, that's not ours and not provide it to the Board.

You are a regulated entity.  Regulated entities are required to make sure when they have something they can give it to their regulator.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Nettleton?

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, my understanding of Mr. Shepherd's argument is that he wants to show in final argument the impact of a change, a change between what alleged difference would be in the CCA amount.

What I heard Mr. Vels say is that in order to make that argument, you don't need the actual amounts that have been included in the discounted cash flow calculation.  You can make assumptions all you want, as long as you have the underlying assumptions that are used for purposes of the discounted cash flow calculation, like discount rate used and made available.

But the actual cash flows that the company has relied on for purposes of a far different issue, like the valuation of the company for purposes of the sale of shares by the owner of those shares, not Hydro One, but the owner of those shares, seems to me to be something that isn't relevant to this issue.

The issue that Mr. Shepherd is seeking is to make an argument about the impact that the CCA value would have for purposes of suggesting that ratepayers are going to somehow suffer. But I don't think the need to make that argument requires the actual cash flow streams.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I have a suggestion.  Actually, Mr. Rubenstein has a suggestion which I will take credit for, and that is I wonder if the company could provide a reasonably realistic forecast of cash flows with and without this tax break to show the difference.  It doesn't need to be exact; it doesn't need to use your real cash flows, just something that is not nutty.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, would the cash flows that -- do we have any cash flows in evidence based on the requirements as they stand today in the calculation of this revenue requirement?

MR. NETTLETON:  I mean, think that's forecast on the record here is the five-year forecast period, and I am thinking about that for purpose of -- it's two years, I am sorry.  It's the cap ex that's five years.

But again, I am not sure -- like it's good for Mr. Rubenstein to realize that it doesn't have to be actuals, it could be some reasonable replication.  My argument, sir, is I don't even know why it has to be reasonable.  It can just be assumed away because that's not what's giving rise to the metric that Mr. Shepherd is seeking, and that's the rate of change that he suggests is 6 percent, or something in that neighbourhood.

So I think if we focus on the variable as opposed to all the noise around the variable, that's the most salient and relevant issue.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think there is a nervousness of making assumptions, and having those assumptions being put in any kind of context which is inappropriate.  I think that to the extent we can be precise in what is for, and then it can't be misconstrued as being something that the company views as its future lot in life from a cash-flow perspective.

Mr. Shepherd, do you have a suggestion or further refinement on this so we can move forward?

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am trying to do is -- I think it's going to be relevant to the Board if the basically tax-free period of the company is five years or 25 years.  And I think it may be closer to 25 years, and the DCF will show us that.  It will show us that calculation and show where the tax breaks end.

It will also show what the rate impact is along that period and in that way, you can assess, well, does this really make sense.  I mean, there's principle issues as well; I get that.  But there's also issues of reasonableness and you may want that information in order to assess the reasonableness.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, why don't we let the witness do what he has offered and provide something to the parties so that we have some context around what it looks like, and then make a decision about why what Mr. Vels has provided is sufficient or why it is isn't sufficient.

But at least let's get something down so that we have some context.

MR. QUESNELLE:  The Panel has heard arguments from both sides on this, so just give me one moment.

The Panel has obviously demonstrated its interest in this as well.  We have been very -- well, it has become quite clear as to the importance we place on this issue, and I would ask Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Nettleton to take that into consideration and, perhaps off-line, work something out and attempt to come to a mutual understanding of what exactly would work, and provide the Board with more light on this issue.  And we will render a decision later.  If you can come to a satisfactory and mutually beneficial outcome on this, that's great, we will accept it, and if not, we will render our decision subsequent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Mr. Chairman, we will do that at lunch.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, please.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I have just one more area.  I am not going to give a time estimate.  And this is -- we started this -- we talked about, Ms. Cheung, we talked about the fact that there is a difference in the value of the tax liability and the tax asset; right?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And as I see it, there is two differences, and tell me whether this is right.  One is that the tax liability was calculated earlier and agreed with the province, and then you did revaluation later for the entry into the federal system.  And that wasn't the same; right?

MS. CHEUNG:  So the first valuation for the province was to determine the departure tax approximate so we could start the IPO process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. CHEUNG:  For -- for the next set of valuation was more, like, a trued-up value of what was available for that date.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you use the same valuation, the same deemed disposition value, for the entry into the feds and the payment of the departure tax?

MS. CHEUNG:  We used the same assumptions, just matter that we had a different time period.  One was an estimate and one was based on more of the actual -- the date the departure occurred.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you pay -- the actual departure tax that you paid, was it the -- on this same valuation that you used for federal purposes or a different valuation?

MS. CHEUNG:  It was a different valuation, but the same assumptions were used.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I am going to ask you to tell us what those differences were in terms of the tax impacts, but before I get to that, there is a second area in which there is a difference which you alluded to, I think, and that is, if you take a look at page 4 of our materials, this is your calculation of the departure tax.  This is the calculation of the actual departure tax; right?

MS. CHEUNG:  This is a high-level summary.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is the number 2264 correct?  The number -- departure tax 2264; is that correct or not?

MS. CHEUNG:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And what you actually did is you paid 2408, but then you got a dividend refund?

MS. CHEUNG:  That was part of the calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the dividend refund exists because the capital gain is investment income, and when you pay it out to the province, which you did, or some of it, you got a refund of part of the tax; right?

MS. CHEUNG:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have more dividend refunds accrued on that?  Like, you had a capital gain, a taxable capital gain, of 1132.  So was 144 the total dividend refund, or was it only part of it?

MS. CHEUNG:  I would have to check the calculations, because this is just for Hydro One Networks, and there is other entities as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So what I am trying to figure out is -- and by the way, can I ask one other question about this?  You see in the line "fixed assets"?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have the tax base.  That's the costs for tax purposes before the deemed disposition; right?

MS. CHEUNG:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And some of it is adjusted cost base and some of it is undepreciated capital cost.

MS. CHEUNG:  I would have to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And some of it is committed on eligible capital as well; right?

MS. CHEUNG:  The eligible capital expenditures is on the goodwill line.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the fixed assets are only ACB and UCC; right?

MS. CHEUNG:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then the fair market value figure is -- that's the new valuation, and the difference is the taxable component; right?

MS. CHEUNG:  That's right, but there is --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That's the --


MS. CHEUNG:  -- two components, yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I didn't understand why the recapture plus the capital gain didn't total the difference.  Can you explain that?

MS. CHEUNG:  This is a high-level summary, so I don't have the details here.  This is high-level summary.  It's not meant to be -- to show the detailed calculation to match exactly the difference.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's $500 million out.  It wasn't meant to be within $500 million?

MS. CHEUNG:  I am sorry, I can't answer that question, because this was just a high-level summary.  I would have to go back to the detailed calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you were sworn, you swore that this is your responsibility; right?  You swore that this was true; right?

MS. CHEUNG:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then why doesn't it balance?

MS. CHEUNG:  It's not meant to balance here.  This is just to give you an idea how which components were recaptured and what components were capital gain.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there something else besides those two?

MS. CHEUNG:  No, there isn't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And so --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Shepherd, you just asked a series of questions that Ms. Cheung said she would have to check and get back to you.  Are we taking that as an undertaking?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, I think we should.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And I don't know --


MR. SHEPHERD:  What I'd like to -- I am going to talk about the differences between the asset --


MR. VELS:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, I was just checking with her to make sure that in fact we don't have your answer.  If you wouldn't -- just give me a minute.

Thanks for that.  We just confirmed that there is some detail required to provide the answer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So can you reconcile the first line in this table of fixed assets, please, by undertaking?

MR. VELS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  It's J11.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.4:  TO RECONCILE THE FIRST LINE IN THE TABLE OF FIXED ASSETS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then my --


MR. NETTLETON:  So Mr. Shepherd, maybe you could just -- just to the witnesses, you may want to check the math -- we are doing the math as we speak, and you may want to look at the fixed-asset line, and you may want to take a look at the goodwill line, because it looks like there is a netting there.

MR. VELS:  I think it has been netted, that's what we discussed, but we would just like to be sure that that is the case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I don't think there is a netting there, but you can answer that by way of undertaking.

MR. VELS:  Yeah, we will do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what I am trying to figure out then is, you have the liability and you have the asset.  For regulatory -- for the regulatory component -- I don't care about the other components, just the regulatory component
-- can you give us a side-by-side detail of the calculation, not all the -- not every single CCA class, just higher level than that, but not just one number, that shows the calculation of the liability and the calculation of the asset, identifies the differences, and explains what they are?  Are they valuation differences, are they because you have a capital gain that became UCC and therefore you get a full deduction?  What are the reasons for the differences? Can you show us that calculation side by side?

MS. CHEUNG:  We do not have that calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking you to do it.

MS. CHEUNG:  That would take significant time.

MR. VELS:  I guess it's physically possible to do it.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Are we talking days, Ms. Cheung?

MR. SHEPHERD:  We are talking an hour, Mr. Chairman.

MS. CHEUNG:  Pardon me?

MR. SHEPHERD:  We are talking an hour.

MS. CHEUNG:  An hour?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Let's get past the difference of opinion by finding out if we have a difference...

MS. CHEUNG:  I don't have an answer right now.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I have no more questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Rubenstein, could you remind me -- you are going to be --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I have shortened what I --


MR. QUESNELLE:  You have -- your questions will be related to...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The business plan and the chronology and those documents that were filed.

MR. QUESNELLE:  All right --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have minus 45 minutes of time available.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We are interested in breaking fairly soon, I think.  I'd like to get work started on the others, so did you want to -- we did start at 9:00.  do we want to take an early lunch today and then start fresh after lunch, Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If that's the Panel's --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yeah, let's do that, and let's provide a little extra time.  Let's return at 1:30, thank you.  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:14 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:34 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, please be seated.  Mr. Nettleton, have we taken care of some outstanding business?

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Mr. Shepherd and I had the opportunity to discuss at the break, and what we concluded was this:  that Hydro One would provide an analysis, if you will, that is based on Hydro One transmission's -- Hydro One Network Inc. transmission revenue requirement line items.  The idea would be to forecast those out, based on the five-year average increases, historical, so that those would effectively be the reasonable estimate and it's hypothetical.  But the items of income tax would be the focus, obviously, to Mr. Shepherd's interest and would reflect the CCA element or variable that he is looking to.

So, in other words, all of the other revenue requirement line items would be taken care of on a forecast basis, but the forecast has no bearing on what are actually forecasted.  It's just for the purposes of this analysis.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  Did I hear you right, Mr. Nettleton, that it would be on historic averages projected forward?

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes, some metric to throw it forward.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, understood.

MR. NETTLETON:  And my understanding is that approach in principle is what Mr. Shepherd is acceptable, and I am acceptable with.  And I see that he has sent me an e-mail that I haven't had the full chance to review to confirm this, but my quick read of it appears like we are ad idem on that point.

So I intend to forward this to my witnesses and get their confirmation that all is good, and then we can go forward.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you very much.

MR. NETTLETON:  There is one other matter, sir, and that's that Mr. Vels has a correction that he would like the make on the record.

MR. VELS:  Thanks, Mr. Nettleton.  Mr. Shepherd asked me about the treatment of taxes in the calculation of the revenue requirement, and whether it was a circular calculation grossed up.

I was incorrect in terms of calculating the revenue requirement.  That amount is grossed up and that is the basis upon which we would do the analysis.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Vels.  We have a question that stems from that, Mr. Vels.

MR. THOMPSON:  Just on previous statement of counsel, have we nailed down whether the tax savings were included in the discounted counted tax flow analysis or not?

MR. VELS:  Thank you.  I did discuss that at the break and as the valuation -- or the total value of the company was used as the basis for the departure tax calculation, it would have included the cash tax benefits arising from the deferred tax, yes.  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.  Ms. DeMarco?

MS. DeMARCO:  Apologies, Mr. Chair.  I have just had an inquiry from our clients as to timing of travel, and I am wondering if we could ask for your indulgence for some semblance of at least round-about timeline so we can instruct them when to travel.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you for that.  I was just going there because I think, as people have seen, Mr. Thiessen has just distributed -- if not yet, he has sent out electronically anyway -- an update based on where we are as of today and right now, which would -- it pushes us into Thursday.  That's not suggesting we are available Thursday; it is just the way Mr. Thiessen's spreadsheet works and it demonstrates we are off our target of completing on Wednesday, as it stands right now.

Given that we are not sitting tomorrow, what I propose we do, if it satisfies your client, Ms. DeMarco, is take stock at the end of today, and we will see what we have to do.  Because I think, quite frankly, if we have to put a spillover day, it's preferable to this panel -- I think Friday morning is preferable to us as opposed to Thursday.

MS. DeMARCO:  If I could just support that.  My client, the one day that they were not available is this Thursday.  So thank you very much.

I will take my leave then if the Board will excuse me, and I will leave Mr. Ferguson here.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco, we appreciate that.  So let's do that, let's take stock at the end of the day.  And with that in mind, we want to be as -- take the opportunities we have this afternoon to get the questions answered.  But recognizing we have a lot on the record, I think we had a full discussion this morning, so am I expecting any more examination on the tax issue from any of the party this is afternoon?

I don't see any, no.  Okay, that's great. Mr. Millar, you have nothing that came up?  All right.

Before we leave that then, Dr. Elsayed, would this be a good time to speak to the correction of the --


DR. ELSAYED:  Sure.  I just wanted to confirm, there are two exhibits that have information about the capital breakdown for the previous application, the November 2015 draft, and the final.

So if I can take you to the response to undertaking   J8.1, attachment 2, page 1, I pointed out before that -- and I am focussing now on the middle part of the upper table that talks about the November 2015 draft -- that the numbers in that part of the upper table do not match the November 2015 numbers in the lower table.

For example, if you look under 2017 in the upper table, it shows 644, and under 2017 in the lower table it shows 650.

MR. NETTLETON:  Dr. Elsayed, if you would just give us a moment, we are just commiserating here thinking that there was an update filed.

DR. ELSAYED:  I was going to refer to that, in fact, because at the end of the day, I just want to confirm that the numbers -- and that's why I am taking you there -- in the upper part of the table are incorrect, and you have corrected them later.

I can now refer you to undertaking J 9.2, attachment 1, page 1.  Now the numbers under, again November 2015 in the upper table, do match the previous exhibit.  So I wanted just confirmation from you that the previous exhibit needs to be corrected to match these numbers?

MR. NETTLETON:  Absolutely, yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think there is a question, Mr. Nettleton, as to whether or not this would be undated and corrected, or correct the prior one.  I think Dr. Elsayed has indicated to me it would be preferable to correct the earlier one in the context it was provided.

DR. ELSAYED:  The reason I am mentioning that is because the earlier one had more information, or different information.

MR. NETTLETON:  You would like a corrected version of J8.1, attachment 2, to show the corrected numbers that are reflected in --


DR. ELSAYED:  In this one.

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.  Thank you.

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  There we go.  Thank you very much.

MR. NETTLETON:  If we could make that an undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  It would be J11.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.5:  TO PROVIDE A CORRECTED VERSION OF EXHIBIT NO. J8.1, ATTACHMENT 2

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Mr. Rubenstein.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right, thank you very much.

I just want to, before I begin, just understand the numerous undertaking responses with respect to the business plan and the numbers and how they all fit together.  I was wondering if you have K1.2.  This was the SEC compendium from the strategy panel.  If we can go to page 29 -- actually, you know what, never mind, we can use J9.2 as the guide.  It has the same -- oh, actually, I apologize, no, we can't.  Sorry, there is a lot of numbers.  I just want to make -- the reason why I want to correct this.

So if we can go to page 29 of -- so I just want to map through the three budgets that are on the record:  The one from the EB-2014-014, the November 2015 business plan, and then this application.

So if I look at line 23, this is the total transmission capital.  We talked about this on the first panel.  At the time of the last proceeding, the expectations were for 2017 to 2019 -- that was the end of your budgeting process -- was 847.8 million, 838.8 million, and 831.4 million; do I understand that correctly?

MR. PENSTONE:  So I believe, Mr. Rubenstein, you quoted the expected transmission capital for the years 2017 to 2019.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And so that was -- it was actually slightly declining over that time period, the capital expenditures, total capital expenditures.

MR. PENSTONE:  Forecast at that time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  And on the sustaining capital expenditures we had -- I am on line 27 here -- 597.54 in 2017, 636.7, and then 600.1 in 2019, so it goes up and then it goes down again, correct?

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So now if we can turn to J9.2, attachment 1.  If we look at the November 2015 in the chart, we look at the total capital plan, again 2017, and now we have numbers to 2020 at the time.  So it's 920 million, 978 million, 1021 million, and 989-, so it goes up and then it goes down a bit.

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And on the sustaining specifically it was 650 million, then it goes up to 731 million in 2018, and then it drops to actually lower than 2017, 641- in 2019, and in 2020 it's 640-; correct?

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And then in this application -- it's on this chart as well -- we have for 2017 it's now a billion-76 dollars, then a billion-122 million dollars, then a billion-208 dollars -- 208 million dollars, and then a billion-269 million, so it's steadily increasing over the time period.

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then on the sustaining front we have 777 million in 2017, 842 million, 826 million in 2019, and 915 million, so it goes up, a little bit down, then we are going up again.

MR. PENSTONE:  Right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's the trend line.

MR. PENSTONE:  Right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I just wanted to understand those numbers.

So you provide on that table the -- a variance analysis essentially between the November 2015 and the filed business plan; correct?

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I want to ask you about -- and as I look down at the difference between the test period amounts, so the 2017 and 2018 spending, for sustainment capital, the -- as I read it, the lion's share of the increase is with respect to lines and cables; correct?

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And we have talked at length in the planning panel about the insulator replacements that's due to the accident, as I understand it, we talked about the steel structure, the new --


MR. PENSTONE:  Tower coating.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- the new painting method -- I apologize, I forget the number.  Those are those two things, correct?

MR. PENSTONE:  No, it also includes --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand, but we talk --


MR. PENSTONE:  -- line refurbishments, but, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  I want to talk about the line refurbishments a little bit, because as I understand it that's a $128 million increase between November 2015 and this application; correct?

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And if I go back and I look at B1-3-2, page 33, my understanding is the total amount you're spending on line refurbishments in 2017 and 2018 is $210.2 million.  If we can turn up -- yeah, B1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 33.

So this is the transmission line refurbishment project capital expenditures, and I understand adding the 2017 and 2018 it's $210.2 million?  Would you take that subject to check, just adding those two numbers?

MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So if you are adding $128 million variance, do I understand then that's actually a two-and-a-half-times difference from what you were forecasting to do in the November business plan, 2015 business plan?  My math is you originally then were about $82.2 million you were planning to spend, just taking the 210, minusing the 128.

MR. PENSTONE:  So just so I can confirm this -- and as you say, Mr. Rubenstein, there is a lot of numbers here.  So you are suggesting that the total investments that we're intending to make in '17 and '18 that are outlined in B1, tab 3, Schedule 2 is $210 million thereabouts.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Right, yes.

MR. PENSTONE:  And the increment that we have identified is $128 million.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. PENSTONE:  And that that represents 60 percent -- the increment represents 60 percent of the total.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, it's more than that.  My understanding, if I just do the math, 210 million now, you added 128- from the November business plan, that means you would have been proposing in at least at the November business plan, November 2015 business plan, $82.2 million was the budget at that time.

MR. PENSTONE:  Yup.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that's a very significant increase.

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I am trying to understand, I can't recall where in the evidence you -- if we have discussed it or I missed it -- where we have seen such a significant increase explained.  I am just asking you to help me with that.

MR. PENSTONE:  So I think we've explained the factors behind that significant increase, and they were all related to investments in the three categories that are outlined in J9.2, in particular insulators, the structure refurbishments, and the line refurbishments.

So in terms of the line refurbishments, that's all related to the end of life, or the confirmation that conductors are at their end of life, and those -- that confirmation was achieved through sampling of conductors. And through the course of time, the sampling of conductors has confirmed that we have more conductors that are at their end of life than we had previously had an insight into.


 The reason for that is that we had done additional sampling in past years.  So we have now got those results, and those results have now led us to the conclusion that there is more work to be done to replace end of life conductors.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But I am just understanding from the timeline, because we are talking about moving from the November 2015 to this application.  So we are not talking about years.  So I am just trying to understand how we could be seeing a jump from 82 million to 110 million just based on the conductor issue that you are talking about.

MR. PENSTONE:  So now I will take you to Exhibit J8.1, which is the chronology, and I'll take you to row 22.

So in the period between December and February, we have now got the results of the conductor testing that had been previously done.  And as a result of those lab results, they had confirmed what I mentioned earlier, that the extent and degree of end of life for our conductors was more than we had identified for the November business plan.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that testing resulted in Hydro One believing it needed to spend is approximately two-and-a-half times what it was spending on line refurbishments, correct?

MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.

MR. PENSTONE:  So the total amount of conductors which we now deem to be end of life had increased from roughly 4 percent to around 9 percent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  But that doubles, but it's still less than two-and-a-half times the spending increase.

MR. PENSTONE:  You know, it's not proportional.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  The other question I wanted to ask, there has been a number of discussions on a number of different panels including the strategy panel, Mr. Penstone, about the consultation process and how it fed into your application, what you drew from the consultation report from IPSOS.


And my understanding from the evidence at a high level was while you didn't -- for a number of reasons, it was explained why you didn't speak to end-use customers of LDCs; you spoke to your customers.  It was LDCs, you know, were speaking for their end-use customers.  You talked about they mentioned rates in their consultation.

Am I correct?  That's how you got the view of the end-use customer was through the LDCs?


MR. PENSTONE:  I am going to suggest that that is speculative.  We didn't ask the LDCs whether this was reflective of their customers.  This was the input that we got from LDCs themselves.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And you -- putting aside you don't know what they thought at least, did you consider it?  Did you consider the LDC feedback to encompass what end-use customers were thinking?  How did you interpret it?

MR. PENSTONE:  So we received their feedback.  We didn't sort of judge whether it was representative of the LDC itself or the LDC's customers.  But certainly that was the feedback that was received, and it was duly documented in the IPSOS report.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding from J1.1 was 92 percent of your revenue flows through LDCs, correct?  We can pull that up, or you can take that subject to check.


MR. VELS:  That's right, that's right.


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can ask you to turn to K 10.1. this was the consolidated business plan, Mr. Nettleton's letter of December 8th, and we can go to page 3.

And you, on page 3 under customer expectations, you discuss what you took away from the transmission customers, their views.  And this is in the second main paragraph, and I am looking at the fourth line down.  It says:

"Transmission customers' top priority was reliability maintenance or improvement and they were willing to accept a small increase to achieve that outcome."

And then it continues:

"In addition, energy quality was a significant factor for several sophisticated energy users."

That's what you took away, correct, from the transmission connected customers?


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So in the next sentence, this is what your distribution customers with respect to, I assume, a different consultation.  But this is what we have distribution customers think.  They say:

"Distribution customers consistently prioritized low cost and wanted Hydro One to do its best to limit increases in rates."


Do you see that?

MR. PENSTONE:  I see the line, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So help me and help the Board reconcile how it should deal with this -- what seems to me a contradiction here, or at least two different views.


Ultimately, 92 percent of your revenue is coming from essentially distribution customers or end-use customers, not the LDC doesn't pay.  Yet they seem to have different views than transmission-connected customers.  Help us understand how we should -- how should the Board interpret this?

MR. PENSTONE:  I am going to suggest that the transmission customers and distribution customers are fundamentally different, those connected to the transmission grid.  So, for example, the needs and preferences of a distribution customer that you've highlighted in your earlier remark is much different than the needs and preferences of, say, a General Motors or a Suncor.


I am also going to suggest that LDCs themselves also understand, particularly an urban LDC, what the consequences would be of a significant power outage affecting their customers and their -- including, and I will use Toronto as an example, large banks, financial institutions, the subway and so forth.

So their view, I am going to suggest, is broader than just simply the rates, but also some of the other consequential impacts of unreliability, being a larger enterprise and having a broader perspective.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But ultimately, they are passing on the costs.  And the only evidence, as I see it, on the record that talks about what end use-use customers of LDCs, distribution customers, think is it's different.

So my question is how should the Board now interpret this?  How should --


MR. PENSTONE:  So I think on that, Mr. Rubenstein, I think within the evidence, we have identified what the rate impacts will be on end-use customers, the customers that you are referring to.  And so I think what -- I don't want to presume how the Board should consider this, but ultimately you have the look at what is the net impact to individual ratepayers versus the benefits of the revenue requirements that the Hydro One is seeking, that's the balance.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But ultimately, here where you say transmission customers are willing to accept a small rate increase to achieve reliability, maintenance and improvement, that's what you have proposed to the Board. That is, I understand, at the highest level what this application is attempting to do.


MR. PENSTONE:  So what this application attempts to do is identify a balance point between customer needs and preferences, asset needs, and the consequences on reliability and also rates.  It considers all three.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I accept that.  But it includes what you are taking away from transmission customers?  The reliability shows there is a slight improvement, and there's a, what you consider a small rate increase, and that's the trade-off that the board, you know, customers should accept; correct?

MR. PENSTONE:  This is what we believe to be the optimal balance point amongst those three considerations.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much, those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.

Mr. DeRose.
Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose:

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Good afternoon, panel, my name is Vince DeRose.  I am here on behalf of CME, and all of my questions will be focused on the chronology.

And so just if we could pull up on the screen Exhibit J8.1, attachment 1, please.  And what I'd like to begin with, I would like to walk you through chronologically some of the business planning events and understand exactly how the numbers developed both for the November draft plan and then beyond.

So let me start with line 5.  And line 5 describes that in February of 2015 the process is initiated to enter candidate investments into asset investment planning, or the AIP tool.  So just stopping there, am I right that this is for business planning purposes the kick-off?

MR. PENSTONE:  So, sorry, it's actually a distinction.  This is the kick-off of what we refer to as the investment planning process.  The investment planning process subsequently feeds the business plan.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, so at this process, at this point, you do not have any projected capital expenditures for 2017 or '18 from a business planning perspective?

MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  This restarts the process for the next five years.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And when you say "resets", are you starting from zero or are you starting from the numbers that were previously reviewed by the Board in EB-2014-0140?

MR. PENSTONE:  So we actually don't start from numbers, we actually start from investments.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And then if I take you to line 8, which I believe is the next step in the process, you refer to AIP optimization of candidate investments.

So stopping there and, again, recognizing that there may be amendments to the AIP as you identify additional investments over time between then and now, at that point do I understand it that the AIP tool is either fully populated or almost fully populated because you are entering into the optimization process?

MR. PENSTONE:  So the candidate investments, proposed candidate investments, are then optimized based on the degree to which they mitigate risk to business objectives.  So we have -- we have now culled the candidate investments, and we have now established a priority.

MR. DeROSE:  And then approximately one month later, if we go to line 11, we see that you refer to enterprise engagement of optimized investment plan.

So first of all, what is the optimized investment plan?

MR. PENSTONE:  So the optimized investment plan is what's referred to as the outcome of line 8, the AIP optimization.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And at that point does the optimized investment plan have any forecast capital expenditures associated with it?

MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  The individual investments within the optimized plan would result in a total.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And at that time, are the totals 920 and 978?

MR. PENSTONE:  Just to be clear, at what time, June 2015?

MR. DeROSE:  Line 11, June 2015.  What are the numbers at that time for 2017 and 2018?

MR. PENSTONE:  So the numbers that you refer to in terms would be those that correspond to the output of line 17.

MR. DeROSE:  No, but what I am asking is, in June 2015, do you have -- and I appreciate they would be preliminary and they would be draft, but have you added all of the numbers up and have a total?

MR. PENSTONE:  So there is a total, but that plan is subject to further refinement.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But my question is in the plan, because it then refers to "followed by COO review".

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

MR. DeROSE:  When you give the COO the optimized investment plan, is there a line item that the COO can look that says our current optimized investment plan, if accepted, would produce forecast capital expenditures of X in 2017 and Y in 2018?

MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  What are those numbers?

MR. PENSTONE:  I can't answer that right now.  I can tell you that the outcome of the subsequent steps, because that particular plan was subject to further refinement, and I don't -- I can't tell you right now the extent of that refinement.  I can tell you that when you complete the process, and that occurs by step -- row 17, where you have the review by the CEO and CFO, additional adjustments have been made that impacts the totals that you just referred to.

MR. DeROSE:  Oh, okay, so let me just work backwards then.  If we go to line 17, on November 2nd and 4th when the CEO and CFO reviewed the draft investment plan, are the numbers in that draft investment plan 920 million and 978 million?

MR. PENSTONE:  So I cannot answer that with absolute certainty, but I am going to suggest that they were substantially the same.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, perhaps just --


MR. VELS:  I think the point is there are minor adjustments that are --


MR. DeROSE:  That are non-material?

MR. VELS:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.  So if I can go back to May of -- sorry, not May.  Line 11, which is June of 2015.  You have an optimized investment plan, and the COO then reviews it; is that correct?

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And then if we go to line 12, we see July to August, so for two months the investment plan is updated to incorporate the COO feedback.

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

MR. DeROSE:  What was the COO feedback that you were working on for two months?

MR. PENSTONE:  I can't give you the specific details of that --


MR. DeROSE:  And you cannot --


MR. PENSTONE:  -- at this time.

MR. DeROSE:  Can you not give it to me because you don't remember it or because --


MR. PENSTONE:  I don't recall it.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Would it have been in a written memo?

MR. PENSTONE:  Umm, again, I don't recall.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Would there not be a recording somewhere in Hydro One of what you worked on for two months, the feedback that the COO gave you that you were amending your investment plan?

MR. PENSTONE:  Yes, there would be.  That would have been documented.  I just can't recall exactly the form of that documentation or the -- how it was provided to us.  It may have been in minutes of meeting, it may have been in an e-mail, I am not clear.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  By way of undertaking would you provide either a summary or the document that explains to us what the COO feedback was and what the updates were?

MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  J11.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.6:  TO PROVIDE EITHER A SUMMARY OR THE DOCUMENT THAT EXPLAINS WHAT THE COO FEEDBACK WAS AND WHAT THE UPDATES WERE.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, and then if I can just jump back to line 17, this, again, is November 2nd and 4th.  You have told us that at that time the draft investment plan is around 920 or 978 or materially the same to that.  Is -- we have been referring in -- and again, don't pull it up, because we will keep the chronology up.  But in J8.1, attachment 2, you advised this morning that -- and in the exhibit, that November 2015 draft was 920 and 978.  Is this the draft?  Like when we are talking draft investment plan, is that the same as the draft business plan?  Or are these two different documents?  Is there a draft investment plan and a draft business plan?

MR. PENSTONE:  So the capital expenditures are essentially a line between the investment plan and the business plan.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MR. PENSTONE:  So again, the business plan includes additional costs, above and beyond, and it considers additional factors above and beyond the investment plan.  But the investment plan essentially is the forecast of capital expenditures within the company.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.  And the draft investment plan that was reviewed by the CEO and the CFO, one thing I don't see in the chronology is -- they are reviewing it on November the 2nd.  I am assuming if that's when the review happened, your team must have drafted the investment plan and had it completed and ready for review sometime before November the 2nd.  Is that a fair assumption on my part?

MR. PENSTONE:  So again, the review technically by the CEO and CFO, the plan is still draft.

MR. DeROSE:  Fair enough.  But your team must have, at some point, had the draft investment plan that had the numbers 920 and 978 in it that was ready to give to the CEO and the CFO.  Do you know when your team had it ready?

MR. PENSTONE:  The specific date, I don't know.  I am not certain what the relevance is, but I am not --


MR. DeROSE:  Well, would have it been a week before?  A month before?

MR. VELS:  Oh, it would have been quite a short period of time before.  I can't tell you what that answer was, but generally they work up to the last minute to provide us a draft, preferably a week in advance; it might have been less.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So let me then switch gears a little bit and start with line 16.  So line 16, now moving from the investment plan and the business plan in November, to your IPO.  And at line 16, you say:
"Figures cited in the IPO documentation were those approved in Hydro One's last rate application," I assume it should be EB 2014-0140, "which were based on information known in 2013."

So I just want to understand, from the IPO's perspective, exactly which figures you are referring to.  And I think I have found them, but I would like to confirm that.

If I can take you to CME Interrogatory No. 2; it's Exhibit I, tab 9, schedule 2, page 1 -- sorry, not page 1 of 1, and then attachment 1, and it is page 10 of the prospectus.

I am sorry if I was going too fast for our friend working the computer.  Do you need that again?

MR. VELS:  You are going too fast for me.

MR. DeROSE:  Yes, that's it.  So first of all, under the heading "projected capital expenditures for transmission and distribution business", and then there is the transmission line, those I believe -- the 899 in 2015 through to 832 in 2019, those are the numbers that were presented to the Board in the context of EB-2014-0140; is that correct?

MR. VELS:  Yes, they were based on that.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so when you say at line 16 -- and let's keep the prospectus up, because I do have some more questions about that.  When you say figures cited in the IPO documentation were those approved in Hydro One's last rate case, is this the information that you are referring to?

MR. VELS:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And would you agree with me that the only numbers that were actually approved by the Board previously were the 2015 and 2016 budgets?

MR. VELS:  That's right.

MR. DeROSE:  If I can take you -- if you just go down on the page a little bit, you will see note 1 says:
"Projected capital expenditures may be considered forward-looking information, and reflect the company's current expectations and assumptions relating to projects contemplated in the company's capital expenditure programs and Ontario Energy Board approvals received to date."

I have to tell you when I read that and I compared it to the comment in your chronology that you were basing the figures in the IPO on information known in 2013, could you help explain to me how you reconcile those two statements, because they seem to be contradictory.

MR. VELS:  It's a fair question and I absolutely understand how you arrived at your --


MR. DeROSE:  I suspected you would be ready for this one.

MR. VELS:  Not that ready.  So when faced with the necessity of deciding what to put in public filing documents, there needs to be some basis, documented basis of calculation and underlying documentation, and particularly in a document such as the -- as the IPO prospectus.

So the decision we arrived at was to take the information that we would point to a particular approval OEB approval.  Beyond that, for future years that were not included in any such document, a fairly general increase, sort of small percentage was applied to those numbers and that was considered to be a reasonable proxy for future cash flows.

We did not have available to us any other, you know, documentation that had been thoroughly researched, investigated and approved that would form a reasonable basis for inclusion in these numbers.

In fact, if you fast forward and look at our MD&A disclosure of the company currently, although we have a rate filing in currently for transmission, we have not changed our forward-looking numbers to reflect our new rate filing, as we made a decision to only change those numbers once those capital expenditures were approved by the board.

So there is a difference between what our asset planning group would be working on at a point in time, and what would be in our financial disclosures.  We have elected to, to the extent possible, provide other disclosure to our shareholders of rate filings that are in process that are public, and if they choose to go to those rate filings and make their own assumptions as to what might or might not be approved and what the future expenditures of the company might be, they are free to do that.

But we are not representing at this stage that these numbers are approved or have the evidence supporting them that would lead to them being included in the projections.

MR. DeROSE:  So is it your view that the company's expectations and assumptions as of October the 29th, 2015 was that the capital expenditures for 2017-'18 would have been 848 million and 839 million?

MR. PENSTONE:  That was based on the investment plan that formed the basis of the application in 2014.  That investment plan was developed in 2013.

MR. DeROSE:  And now, so the prospectus was -- actually let me just take you to one other page in the prospectus.  If we can go to page 42, you will see under the heading "capital expenditures" in the second full paragraph, there is a sentence that says:
"The company anticipates that it will spend 800 million to 900 million per year over the next five years on capital expenditures relating to its transmission business".

So this is no longer a reflection of the 2013 case.  This, I take it, management has applied its -- some form of discretion or applied judgment to say we anticipate it would be 800- to 900 million?

MR. VELS:  Could we go back to the chart that we were previously referring to?  In the prospectus.

MR. DeROSE:  Sure.  Or put another way, I am trying to understand where the 800- to 900 million would have been -- where did that come from?  How was that number selected?

MR. VELS:  So we would have -- it's intended to provide a general estimate.  You are correct.  We would have reviewed the range of numbers from 2015 to 2019. and they are basically in the region of 8- to $900 million, so it was projected -- or it was written into the prospectus on the basis to provide a general idea or an estimate of the type of capital expenditures that would arise as a result of running the transmission business.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.  Before we move off the prospectus -- this is just the last -- I am right that this was filed -- the prospectus was dated October 29th, 2015; is that right?

MR. VELS:  This one, yes.  I think we had a preliminary one as well but, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, actually, there was the October 29th, thank you.

So if we can go now back to the chronology.  And so one of the great things about having the phones, I can now look up past calendars easy.  October 29th was a Thursday.  I hope you will accept that subject to check.

MR. VELS:  Sure.

MR. DeROSE:  We can agree on that?  And if we look at line 17, the CEO and the CFO are now reviewing the draft plan on November 2nd, which is the following Monday.  And am I right, Mr. Vels, that when it says CFO that was you at the time.

MR. VELS:  That was me.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so you get the draft investment plan, it's now Monday, Thursday before you have just filed your prospectus, and you look and you see that the draft investment plan is saying capital expenditures of 920- and 978 million.

Did anyone raise concerns about the fact that less than a week earlier you had a prospectus which identified numbers in the range of 848- and 839 million and five-year ranges of 800- to 900 million?

MR. VELS:  At the time of the review, I can't recall if we had the conversation in those review meetings.  But we did do due diligence and considered as we filed our prospectuses whether there were any materially incorrect facts in the prospectus.

The fact that we had a draft investment plan that had different numbers that hadn't been approved by the board or management was -- informed that due diligence, but the differences that we are talking about here would not have been sufficiently material for us to go back and reconsider or redraft the disclosure in the prospectus.

MR. DeROSE:  I am sorry, I am not a securities lawyer, so for instance, $100 million wouldn't be sufficient?  That wouldn't be considered --


MR. VELS:  Well, the prospectus was at a point in time.  This has been filed subsequent to marketing a preliminary prospectus, and the impact on the company's financial statements of a $100 million expenditure in any one year relative to the compound average growth rates and the wide variation in those compound average growth rates that investors were ascribing to both our earnings and our rate base growth would not have been considered to be material at the time.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And I guess just a final point on this one section that you referred to:  Because it was draft and it was not approved by the board, I take it that management would have known of the existence of an investment plan being developed and that it was at a relatively mature stage; correct?

MR. VELS:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And do I understand right that the decision was made that you would either ignore or not take into consideration the draft investment plan because it was draft and not approved by the board?

MR. VELS:  Well, that I think is broadly correct.  We needed to base this document on documents and evidence that we could point to.  If -- for example, if this investment plan had come up with a very -- what we would consider a very material difference over a number of years, it would have certainly been taken into account in our assessment of whether the numbers in the IPO as filed were materially correct and/or whether or not they were misleading to investors.

Our conclusion, and it would still be my conclusion, that that difference that you are referring to, whether or not we'd updated the numbers, wouldn't have changed the prospectus in any material way in terms of the assessment by our shareholders of the earnings power of the company.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, fair enough.  Let me take you to line 18, and this is the discussion with the board of directors regarding the draft business plan.

Are you able -- did the board of directors reject the business plan or was it direction given to not approve it and to go back and amend it?  And I am sorry if I am drawing too fine a line between the two.

MR. VELS:  No, I think it's a fair question.  So the discussion with the board and the final decision by our board of directors did start before the board meeting.  You know, I think it's important to understand the context and the timing under which we were operating here.

So as it cleared from the time line, we have new management.  In particular, the new CEO joined the company in September.  We had at the same time -- were assembling a new board of directors, only a very small percentage of whom had been involved in the prior company.  We were marketing an IPO, so there is no doubt that myself and the CEO were distracted and on the road, literally, for two-and-a-half weeks.  We'd also been provided a draft just prior, or while we were marketing, of the AG report, and then subsequently, as you see in the time line, the AG provided her final report, but we were dealing with that AG report throughout the marketing period.  And frankly, we were concerned about the points that had been outlined in it.  They included, you know, items that I guess any management or any board would take seriously, comments that our assets were not being adequately invested in, that they were deteriorating, that assets that had been put into application filings before the OEB in fact were not replaced, and other comments that were, I think -- I am getting to the point --


MR. DeROSE:  I am just trying to --


MR. VELS:  Yeah, I know, I'm sorry --


MR. DeROSE:  Just wanting --


MR. VELS:  -- I'll try and speed it up.

MR. DeROSE:  -- to know whether it was rejected --


MR. VELS:  So --


MR. DeROSE:  -- or amended.

MR. VELS:  So my point is it started -- it started a conversation prior to the board meeting which continued into the board meeting and all of the directors were apprised of our views as to our ability of senior management to have done the due diligence required and the work required to in fact submit this for their approval.

We agreed -- or they agreed with us that there were enough issues and enough items that we had to investigate before either ourselves or the board could be comfortable with the investment plan as submitted, and as such the board agreed to defer approval of the business plan until myself and the CEO were satisfied with the contents of such business plan, and I do apologize for the long -- I was just trying to explain the context.  I do apologize.

MR. DeROSE:  No, no, that's fine.  Now, do I understand it that a 2016 to 2021 business plan was never actually approved because events overtook one another?  The board approved the 2016 budget; correct?

MR. VELS:  Yes, the budget was a little easier to approve because it was based on existing revenue requirements that had been approved and plans to achieve those commitments in previously approved distribution and transmission plans.

MR. DeROSE:  And then if I take you to line 31 of the chronology.  We have investment planning process initiated for 2017 to 022 business plan.  So at this stage, the 2016 to 2021 business plan is, I guess essentially moot; there is no point of doing it.  So now we are focussing on 2017 to 2022.  Would you agree with me on that?

MR. VELS:  I am just going to consult my business planning expert.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  What Mr. Penstone advised me was the plan provided in November was intended to be the basis for this application, so it would have covered the 2017 to 2022.

The fact that it had a '16 year in it was basically was really just to bridge the fact that we needed a '16 year to allow for the continuity.  I think that was your question, is why '16.

MR. DeROSE:  No, that's fine.  So at line 31, when you say investment plan process initiated, you are not going back to square one the same way as we described Mr. Penstone February 2015 at line 5, where you are entering the candidate investments into the AIP?  Or are you going right back; did you throw the baby out with the bath water and start from the beginning?

MR. VELS:  We will ignore the baby with the bath water.  But, yes, it's an annual process that reiterates itself, so we have timing -- literally the timing is running into each other, so I think that is fair.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So I take it when you say investment planning process initiated, you're starting from zero?

MR. PENSTONE:  So that particular statement is analogous to the statement that was made on line 5.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.  Then let me just jump down to line 46.  This is April 12th to 19th, and it says business plan developed.  Is this the 2017 to 2022 business plan?

MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And when you say business plan developed, how far along is the business plan at that stage?

MR. PENSTONE:  Sorry, it's well progressed.  I mean, as I mentioned earlier, most of the business plan relates to the investment plan.

MR. DeROSE:  And then this is the final question.  In April of 2016, what was the date that the business plan was eventually actually approved by the board and made available to the board in this case?  Do you know the date of the 2017 to 2022 final business plan?

MR. VELS:  I believe it was May 6th, 2016, is when the board met to review the transmission rate application.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And in the context of approving the transmission rate application, did the board also approve the 2017 to 2022 business plan?

MR. VELS:  No.  So the information that was included in the transmission rate application on May 6th is what the board reviewed.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MR. VELS:  The board agreed and has now subsequently approved a business plan on December 2nd of this year, and that's the business plan you have in front of you, which is consistent with the transmission rate application.

MR. DeROSE:  And why did it take from April of this year to December 2nd to approve that business plan?  Because that's the one piece in the chronology that seems to be missing on your chart.

MR. VELS:  What we -- sorry, can I just understand what you think is missing?

MR. DeROSE:  Well, I guess to close the gap, I would have expected -- and I am not being critical, we have the information on the report.  But right after June 2016, line 51, 52 -- 52, I would have thought that there would be a box that says December 2nd, 2016, business plan approved.

And what I am trying to understand is why was there the delay between the end of May 2016 or -- sometime in April or May, you had your business plan ready to go and, as you've said, it was the basis for the approval of the transmission rate application.

MR. VELS:  Sorry, the investment plan was the basis for the transmission rate application.  We did not have a formal business plan that we put before the board in the May time frame.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So let me then go back to line 46.  April 12th to 19th; during that week you say business plan developed using the investment plan.  What was left to -- what was left to do at that stage from a -- with respect to the business plan?

MR. VELS:  Right, thank you, sorry.  So in May, the board focussed very much on the test years, '17 and '18.  There were some projections, financial projections and that sort of thing that were also provided, but the focus really was on the investment plan, the impact on the test years of that plan, and the board would have reviewed some level of financial impact to the company.

But the point of view that we took was that all of the information that the board had reviewed from November all the way through to May, or December through to May, was included and explained and outlined in the transmission rate application.

To get back on cycle, we agreed that the board would approve a full business plan for both businesses in December, but with the understanding that we outlined to the board there would be no change, no material change and no change at all, between what these had seen and all of the information that supported the transmission rate application that they saw in May and the business plan that we were going to ask them to approve in December.

In December, obviously as you can see, we had a much more fulsome five-year outlook and a comprehensive plan for both businesses.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much, those are all my questions.  Thank you, panel.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  Ms. Grice?
Cross-Examination by Ms. Grice:


MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  I just have one follow-up question, and it has to do with on December 6th, you filed the transmission rate application business plan for the years 2017 to 2021, and Mr. DeRose took you to the chronology on February 24th where it states that the investment planning process initiated for 2017 to 2022 business plan, and then the consolidated business plan that you filed for both also goes to 2022.

So I just wanted to understand why one goes to 2021 and the other goes to 2022.  Is there a reason for that?

MR. VELS:  Yes.  It's to take into account the fact that it was supporting the distribution filing that we are going to make in March 2017, which goes through to the extra year.

And so the plan now, effectively it's a six-year plan, because it's required to incorporate both transmission -- sorry, effectively incorporate both transmission and the distribution businesses.

MS. GRICE:  So do you have a 2022 forecast for capital now?

MR. VELS:  For transmission?

MS. GRICE:  For transmission, yes.

MR. VELS:  Yes, we do.

MS. GRICE:  Could we get an undertaking to get that?  Just on the major categories, sustaining, development.

MR. VELS:  So we are just reviewing our documents.  We have a capital estimate for distribution, but the transmission estimate that Mr. Penstone has goes out to 2021.  We can -- I would assume, subject -- we will find out -- that our 2022 estimate for transmission capital was effectively a placeholder, but we can certainly confirm that and provide to you whatever information we have for what -- for the number we used in our financial projections for transmission capital in 2022, and if we do have supporting information by category we would provide that to you.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  That would be great.  Thank you very much.

MR. MILLAR:  J11.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.7:  TO CONFIRM THAT THE 2022 ESTIMATE FOR TRANSMISSION CAPITAL WAS EFFECTIVELY A PLACEHOLDER, AND TO PROVIDE WHATEVER INFORMATION AVAILABLE FOR THE NUMBER USED IN THE FINANCIAL PROJECTIONS FOR TRANSMISSION CAPITAL IN 2022, AND TO PROVIDE SUPPORTING INFORMATION BY CATEGORY, IF ANY.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Thank you, Ms. Grice.

Hopefully we wrap up this hearing before we are seeking '23's updates.

[Laughter]

Okay, Ms. Girvan.

MS. GIRVAN:  I have no questions, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.

Okay, Mr. Yauch.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Yauch:

MR. YAUCH:  I just have one question.  In your timeline, Undertaking 8.1, it says on February 4th, 2016, that's when you had the initial discussions on the reliability risk model, and then two lines down, on February 17th, you say you finalized the risk model.

Now, am I correct that it only took two weeks to come up with the idea and finalize that?

MR. PENSTONE:  The concept of reliability risk we had been contemplating before we actually began the process of developing a model.  We were trying to think of ways of characterizing what is it that we do as asset managers?  We manage risk, and we manage risk to reliability, so the concept of reliability risk was, I am going to say in our language and vernacular, as part of our business.

MR. YAUCH:  But the actual model, which would -- I'd imagine would have a lot of data being pumped through it, and then how you tweak that data and kick it out, that only took two weeks?

MR. PENSTONE:  So in terms of -- the model itself was the whole notion of combining the hazard curves and demographics and impacts on reliability.  When we say the finalized reliability risk model, it's not as though we had generated all of the numbers, but we knew this is basically how we were going to generate the numbers.

MR. YAUCH:  So the idea was finalized on the 17th.

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

MR. YAUCH:  But not the actual figures.

MR. PENSTONE:  Creating figures, no.

MR. YAUCH:  And all the -- the investment spending that then sort of fell out of the model when you did create it, that all came later?  You didn't have those numbers now, all that came later?

MR. PENSTONE:  So the numbers for the model -- so we have the model on the 17th.

MR. YAUCH:  Just the idea of it, or what you are going to put in the model.

MR. PENSTONE:  How we would actually generate a result.  Between the 17th and March 7th was when figures were developed, the outcome of the model was developed, and we needed the outcome of the model because that was part of the customer consultation -- the information that was included in the customer consultations.

MR. YAUCH:  That's when you got the idea, if we did nothing and it gets 20 percent worse, and is -- that month is when all those sort of ideas fell out of it?

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  So within that month we have the concept for the reliability risk model.  Then we had to come up with the hypothetical scenarios and then based on those hypothetical scenarios generate the outcome or generate the numbers using that concept.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  And I guess my final question is more of an overarching question.

In the past the company was willing to defer some investments to keep rates lower, it says it through interrogatories, but you simply just have to look at your past applications and what you are doing now.

Now that the company has new management and new ownership, is that idea gone?  The new idea is, deal with reliability risk first, rates second?  Have we inversed the order of importance?

MR. PENSTONE:  So I just want to make clear that, as evidenced in J9.2, a number of station investments were deferred, and the reason that they were deferred was, again, to be able to find that balance point between asset need and the consequential risks, customer needs, and rate impacts.

MR. YAUCH:  But the company is willing to push for higher rate impacts going forward than it did in the past; right?  Because for example, in the customer engagement we said it was -- if what we did what we did in the past through reliability risk gets worse, we don't want to do that any more; therefore, we need higher rates to deal with the new model.

So the company going forward is willing to do -- to implement higher rates than it was in the past?

MR. VELS:  I think that's a mischaracterization, at least I do.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.

MR. VELS:  As a management, and our board, we fully understand the necessity to balance the needs of the system, our customer needs and preferences, and the rates, and so that conversation absolutely occurs in every decision.  And it did occur, and it was actually quite a significant concern of our board when they looked at the transmission rate application.  It was a very particular concern, and it's a conversation that has just finalized of our board when they looked at the distribution application as well.

So in terms of trying to, you know, deal with how you've characterized the decisions that came out of this process, a new piece of information and something that for sure we were not particularly familiar with and were not appraised of but the board discussed at some length were the liability and reliability issues caused by the lines and the conductor issues.

At that time we received advice from Mr. Penstone and his groups as to what the potential impact of that could be on that company, and the board, yes, does take a point of view on the transmission business, that it is very important to ensure that we make proper decisions, but at the same time they have directed us very thoroughly to only ask for the investment that we need, no more and no less.

And I say that, and that, you know, that's something that is said frequently around the board table, no more, but importantly, no less.  So, yes, it would have been our preference not to be dealing with lines investments.  It's something that we would prefer not to have, because it has a rate impact, and it is significant, and particularly with the focus that our board has on customers, it's unpalatable.

So we did defer and found a way to defer some stations investments for sure that did reduce the impact somewhat, and we did challenge the management -- the asset planners to find out and figure out how they could defer assets.

So I guess what I am saying is there is a strong ethos at the board level, our board level -- sorry, our board of directors level, that under-investing in these assets, creating further deteriorated assets, and risking reliability risk increases isn't acceptable.

MR. YAUCH:  So I guess my point was in the past Hydro One's board was more willing to allow the system to age and possibly deteriorate to keep rates lower, whereas the new board is not as willing to do that; correct?  The new Hydro One board.

MR. VELS:  I am not sure that -- firstly, I am not going to speculate on -- I mean, I just can't.  I don't have the information.  But I think it would be fair to point out that the previous board -- and, you know, I think realistically did not have the information about these insulator and conductor problems.  I would imagine that had they known that the problem was as bad as it actually is they may well have made a different decision.  I can't say that they would have, but that is for us and for -- you know, coming into the this business and discussing these issues with our management, that was new information for us, and it is material.  And we do feel that it is a necessity to ensure that we do the right thing.

MR. YAUCH:  That's it, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Yauch.  Mr. Janigan?

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, I have no questions for this panel.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  No questions, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Dr. Elsayed?
Questions by the Board:


DR. ELSAYED:  I have a question about the incentive plans at Hydro One.  First, maybe Mr. Vels, if you can give me an idea about the relative magnitude of the short-term incentive plan and the long-term inventive plan, let's say as a percentage of the base salary for -- let's take the CEO as an example.

First, before we do that, my understanding -- correct me if I am wrong -- is that the short term is an annual payout and the long-term happens every three years.  Is that correct?

MR. VELS:  That's right.

DR. ELSAYED:  So it's one payment every three years for the long-term?

MR. VELS:  Sorry, no. So there a long-term incentive grant generally every year.  But each of those long-term incentive grants would be long-term in nature.  The first grant that was issued has a three-year duration, so it would vest after three years.

But the year after that grant is issued, there would be another one.  If that is three years -- they don't have to be three years, but if that is three years, they would vest the year after.  So there is a potential, assuming that targets are met, for a long-term incentive payment to be made every year after the first three years have elapsed.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  And like I said, can you give me an idea of the magnitude if all the measures are met or exceeded?

MR. VELS:  Would you mind if I talked directionally, as I don't keep -- I don't have those numbers specifically, the percentages.

DR. ELSAYED:  Well, how about for you, is it --


MR. VELS:  We can look them up.  So roughly speaking, in terms of -- I am just wondering if we have a schedule and we can show that.

So if you don't mind, if we need to fill in numbers, I think I can go to probably the area in the prospectus where the numbers would be specific.

DR. ELSAYED:  Sure.

MR. VELS:  Okay.  So base pay is -- for me would be obviously my base pay.  Over and above that, at target, roughly -- sorry, I shouldn't say roughly.  60 percent of my base pay would be, target would be short term incentive, so one-year, the one-year short term incentive payment.

And then over and above that, 140 percent of the base pay would be the long-term incentive.

DR. ELSAYED:  And the 140 percent could be earned annually after the first three years?

MR. VELS:  Well, the grant that is made, it was made I suppose last year, would vest and will hopefully be payable three years after that vesting -- three years after the grant date, that's correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  So if everything falls into place and everything is met or exceeded, one can make twice the salary in both short and long-term incentive plans in that given year?  200 percent?

MR. VELS:  After the three years of the first grant have expired, yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Now, my understanding is the short-term incentive plan is based primarily on the performance, the company's scorecard.  Is that correct?

MR. VELS:  Entirely.

DR. ELSAYED:  Entirely?

MR. VELS:  Well, sorry.  It's sort of -- should we just use me as a subject?

DR. ELSAYED:   Sure.

MR. VELS:  So the 60 percent, which is the short-term incentive plan I am talking about, 80 percent of that is what we refer to as the team scorecard, which we have filed and would be in place for 2017.

Over and above that, 20 percent is subsidiary -- personal goals that I am required to outline and would be judged against.  Generally, those would be either an a lower-level metric than what was in the team scorecard, or a plan that relates directly to the area for which I am responsible.

So the combination of those two, assuming -- let's assume that I hit all of those metrics, or that the company hit its metrics and I was able to hit mine at a target level, would equal to 60 percent of my salary.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  And the long-term incentive, correct me if I am wrong.  My understanding from your consultants is that this is based entirely on share value.

MR. VELS:  So a number of share units are awarded for the last grant.  50 percent of those are paid out based on time, so if you are still employed by the company in three year's time, you would receive those, that number of units.

The other 50 percent are based on performance of the company's earnings per share, on an average basis over the three years.

The executive would receive, at the end of -- or the employee would receive at the end of those three years the number of units times the then value of the stock.  So the value of the final payment, if you call it that to that extent, is determined firstly for half of the units by how well the company did from an earnings perspective, and secondly the value of the share price.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Now if I can take you to your approved business plan, which is Exhibit K 8.1, page 16.

MR. VELS:  Okay.

DR. ELSAYED:  I am just waiting for it to appear on the screen.  I think we gave it K 8.1.  Thank you.

If we scroll down a bit, under productivity strategy, I am just going to read a couple sentences from the first paragraph and the second.

The second sentence in the first paragraph says:
"The company has aligned its planning, execution and reporting functions around performance outcomes that are consistent with the OEB's RRFE outcomes that are reflected in the regulatory scorecards for both transmission and distribution.  The RRFE has four outcome categories: customer focus, operational effectiveness, policy responsiveness and financial performance."

Then if you go down to the next paragraph, the last sentence says:

"Performance outcome wills also be tied directly to the variable or 'at risk' portion of management compensation, ensuring managers are rewarded for achieving or exceeding performance outcomes that are aligned with outcomes that are valued by customers".

So I guess my question is if you can just explain to me, particularly for the long-term incentive, how that link -- or explain the link to what is being mentioned here, how the share value, the determinant of the long-term incentive, relates to the priorities of your customers, such as reliability and low or reasonable price.

MR. VELS:  Our variable compensation is driven, as you correctly point out, by a combination of factors, one of which is certainly the value paid to managers would be impacted by the share price and the extent to which the company is capable of earning its earnings per share.

We designed the plans to achieve a combination of outcomes that are of value to our customers and to our shareholders as well.  And finding the balance is important.

From the perspective of shareholder value and earnings per share and share price, the ability of this company to earn its ROE to deliver on its commitments and ultimately to drive efficiency savings that to some extent will be in periods of time either during a cost of service or alternatively during an IRM filing to the company's benefit until they are rebased and then included in future years in customer rates is -- will be reflected in earnings per share, and it will be reflected in the value of the stock.  That is one of the determinants of value.

So we do see the success of the company and the generation of cash by the regulated businesses and the success in us doing that consistently within the framework of the rate filings and the RRFE as positive for both shareholders and customers.  We need to be successful, and we need to be successful within the regulatory framework in order for shareholders to be comforted that we are consistently managing the business the way the regulator requires us to.  I do see the two as linked.  They are not really mutually exclusive.

DR. ELSAYED:  And you feel that that issue of the long-term incentive being more than after the three years double the short-term is appropriate in terms of maintaining that balance?

MR. VELS:  My -- I think -- I believe compensation expert would agree with this, but my view is when you have constructed a business -- a compensation structure is one of the most important determinants at the end of it that any board or management team needs to decide is what type of behaviour is this going the drive?

So the fact that you put certain measures against compensation is very telling and very important for company managers.  My experience has generally been that the immediate behaviour that is driven is almost always driven out of the short-term incentive plan.

The requirement to attract talent and the necessity to provide fairly vanilla -- or the ability to provide fairly vanilla long-term incentive plan such as what we have is an important element of attracting talent, which is a long way of saying -- and I appreciate that it is long, and I didn't mean it to be -- is that we as a management team drive behaviour throughout the business, and it is the more significant and fundamental element of behaviour through the short-term incentive plan.

So every year we make it clear to our management what their targets are, how they can be paid if they achieve them, and we will change those targets every year depending on what we are weighting and what's important to the company in that year, because really, long-term performance is the combination of a number of, you know, shorter-term deliverables.

So, yes, in, short, I do believe it's well-balanced, balanced between the necessity to attract talent and the requirement to drive behaviour.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Dr. Elsayed.  Mr. Thompson, you have some follow-up questions?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, please.  I have a few about the business plans, and then I will just check my questions that were circulated previously.

Just on chronology and planning, the transmission plan was filed as K8.1, and then K10.1 was, I guess, excerpts from the consolidated business plan.  And my first question is:  The transmission business plan was approved December 2, 2016.  Was a distribution business plan approved at the same time?

MR. VELS:  I do apologize.  I was looking for the document.  I just want to make sure I heard your question. Are you asking was a distribution business plan approved on December -- in December 2016?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. VELS:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so the Hydro One board of directors know the combined impact on rates of the transmission ask as well as the Hydro One distribution ask.

MR. VELS:  Yes, they do.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is there any reason why we shouldn't be aware of that when we consider this application?  That combined impact for customers served by Hydro One?

MR. VELS:  I think I'd have to defer to the experts as to whether it's -- whether it should be introduced into this hearing, but maybe I will answer the question slightly differently, as the board clearly took into account both of the impacts when making the decision in approving the business -- the business plans.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, do you have any objection to providing it to us?

MR. VELS:  No.

MR. THOMPSON:  Could you provide it to us?

MR. VELS:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  What is it?

MR. VELS:  I would need to -- it is quite complicated, because we spent a fairly material amount of time working through deferrals of investment and reductions of investment in the distribution system plan to -- based on the customer needs and preferences and significant input that we received, to arrive at a point that reduced the impact of the rates on 2018, in particular, where there are some load true-ups and some other impacts on rates, so there is a potential for a material impact, and then also to reduce to the extent possible the rates for the reminder of the period whilst not degrading any of the reliability.

So it is different by year.  We can certainly provide the average over the period or by year.  I am just saying I can't remember the numbers, obviously, offhand.

MR. THOMPSON:  I understand.

MR. VELS:  Yeah.

MR. THOMPSON:  So I would like it by year if you could undertake to provide that.

MR. VELS:  We can do that.

MR. MILLAR:  J11.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.8:  TO PROVIDE THE AVERAGE OVER THE PERIOD BY YEAR

MR. THOMPSON:  And then coming back to the transmission plan, the capital spend in the transmission plan, and this has now been displayed in, I guess it's J9.2.  I am looking at -- I think it's attachment -- yeah, that's it, attachment 1, page 1.  And looking at the years 2017 to 2020, I am looking at the variance box.

Just pausing for a moment, Mr. Penstone, I think you gave an undertaking to Ms. Grice to provide the 2021 numbers; is that right?  Capital spend numbers?

MR. PENSTONE:  If we have them at an aggregated level, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  It's actually '22, Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, it was?  Out to 2022?  Which would include the 2021 numbers?

MR. VELS:  That's correct, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so does that give us a 2021 aggregate increase compared to the November 2015 situation?  You recall, I was trying to get in this variance column five years comparable to the blue sheets that had been filed in your pre-filed evidence, and I am just wondering if I am going to get that with the undertaking response?

MR. VELS:  I just want to clarify, Mr. Thompson.  Are you asking whether or not we would have the '21 and '22 totals or whether we could provide the variance to the November '15 plan for '21 and '22?

MR. THOMPSON:  It was really the variance for '21.

MR. VELS:  That's what I thought.  Okay.  Because by definition I don't think there is a variance for 2022, because I don't think we completed that year at that point --


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Well, you might as well give us that as well, but to make it comparable to the blue sheets I was focusing on the variance for '21 so that in the variance column I would have five years, 2017 to 21.  Are you with me?

MR. VELS:  Totally, we can do that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Can we have a number for that, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  J11.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.9:  to provide the variance for 2017 to 2021


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  So just taking the four years there, the variances total up to be something around 190 million on average per year, if you'd take that subject to check.  And when the variance for the next year is added in, let's just assume it's in the order of $200 million per year of capital add compared to the November draft plan.

So you're with me so far on the math?

MR. VELS:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And my question is what the -- you were talking, Mr. Vels, about doing the financials on these numbers.  What is the profit increase associated with a capital spend in transmission of 200 million in each year, roughly?

MR. VELS:  Approximately $7 million, subject to check.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thank you.

MR. VELS:  Let me just --


MR. THOMPSON:  So year one would be 7, year 2 would have 400 million, it would be 14 --


MR. VELS:  I just took 200, 40 percent equity return and 8.78 percent, which is the deemed return on equity, that would be $7 million based on a $200 million number.  So it would be approximately 7.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thank you.  So is that the kind of thing the board goes through when they look at these --e effect of these increased capital spends?

MR. VELS:  The board, well I can only tell you from my experience presenting this to the board, the board was not particularly focused on the impact on earnings.  They were very focussed on the impact on rates.

We would consider that type of an impact on our transmission business to be notable, but not material.  When we provided analysis to the board supporting both the distribution and the transmission plans, the extent of conversation relative to the financials was very small compared with the amount of discussion relative to rates.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  And just to complete this, this is page 10 of the prospectus, Exhibit I, tab 9, schedule 2 -- just while it's being pulled up on the screen, what is shown there is a line for distribution capital spend as of November 2015, if I understand the evidence correctly, in the order of $600 to $700 million per year, in that range.

MR. VELS:  Yes, I see that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And my question is:  With the changes that were made to capital budgeting processes, including the introduction of the reliability risk tool, first of all, are those methods being used on the distribution side?

MR. PENSTONE:  So the reliability risk tool is not being used on distribution.  The reason for that is just because of the nature of the distribution network, which is basically if something breaks, the lights go out.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So my question is, big picture, does the update, the plan that the board approved -- the distribution plan that the board approved on December 2nd, are there capital spend increases in distribution that are in the same order of magnitude as in transmission?

MR. VELS:  So maybe the easiest way to answer that is just to -- with the information I have here, is to look at each year.  So this number was $674 million for 2017 in the IPO.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, yes.

MR. VELS:  Subject to check, I believe the capital expenditures that we have in the distribution plan for '17 are 634.  So that would be a reduction of about 40 million.  A similar number in 2018; so that would be a reduction of another 40 to 50 million.

MR. THOMPSON:  So we are not seeing the same impact on distribution as we have witnessed in transmission on the capital spend side?

MR. VELS:  You mean increases in spend compared to prior estimates?

MR. THOMPSON:  Correct, capital spends.

MR. VELS:  No, as I mentioned, the prior reason for the increases in transmission are really centred around three particular asset classes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MR. VELS:  What we spent a material amount of time doing for distribution was finding ways to minimize rate increase without reducing reliability of the system.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  So now just turning to the questions that we provided over the weekend, the purpose was to help expedite the proceeding today.  Should we mark that e-mail, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  The list of questions, Mr. Thompson?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Either that Mr. Millar, or I think you have placed on the record the e-mails trails.

MR. MILLAR:  I did.  If that's easier, we can do it that way.  So let's call that Exhibit K11.2.

MR. THOMPSON:  Sure.
EXHIBIT NO. K11.2:  MR. THOMPSON'S LIST OF QUESTIONS


MR. QUESNELLE:  Just to capture them all, thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Do you folks have that e-mail in front of you, because it's probably just quickest for me to run through it.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Is that something we can get on the screen?  I am not sure how it was distributed –yes, there it is.

MR. THOMPSON:  Perfect. And I had asked some questions about this when you were previously here, Mr. Vels, and then some undertaking information was provided in J1.3, J2.9 and J2.10 to questions Mr. Brett had asked and I had asked.

These questions, in my mind, followed up from those responses.

But the first question I was trying to get clarity on is the timing of when the obligation to pay departure tax arises.  And I took it from the discussion the first time you were here that that obligation arose after the sales have been sold to the public, but I may be mistaken.  When does it arise?

MR. VELS:  I would like to possibly come back with a very specific answer, because it's a legal question if you are trying to figure out exactly when the obligation arose.  But I believe that it would have arisen when the shares were originally sold to the underwriting group.  It was a board deal, so I believe -- and subject to check -- that at that time, the province effectively would have then owned less than 90 percent, and it is likely at that time that the obligation arose.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  That's good enough for my purposes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Thompson, just to be clear, from the time we received these, we have been in touch with counsel who acted for Hydro One in the transaction.  It wasn't our firm; it was a different firm; it was Oslers.  And we are contacting the senior partner that was involved in that transaction to clarify specifically that legal question.

So we can get you that information.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right, do you want a place holder for that one, then?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Thompson, perhaps in anticipation there may be other follow-ups -- well, I don't know what's best, individual undertakings for the individual questions or a catch-all to respond to Mr. Thompson.

So I think perhaps if we can capture that in totality, that would be just as clean.

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So just hold off for a moment, Mr. Millar, and we will capture this.  We will use the transcript to monitor the responses that have been committed to, the undertakings.

MR. NETTLETON:  I think, from Hydro One's perspective, just for our inventory of these, it may be helpful to have undertakings assigned to each of the questions that we don't have fulsome answers to, so if we could mark this one that would be helpful.

MR. QUESNELLE:  No, my intent was just to make sure we are all approaching this in the same fashion.  I am quite content with that as well, so Mr. Millar, we will take an undertaking for that.

MR. MILLAR:  So that first undertaking will be J11.10.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.10:  TO RESPOND TO EXHIBIT k11.2 QUESTION 1


MR. THOMPSON:  Then the second question dealt with the timing of the province's purchase of the 2.6 billion shares of Hydro One Limited.  And from our previous discussion I understood that in the sequence that took place before any shares were sold to the underwriters.

Is that right, or have I mistaken that?

MR. NETTLETON:  So again, Mr. Thompson, I think this obviously is something that we attempted to look at last evening, and we were needing the assistance of counsel who was involved in the closing transaction to actually answer that, and we have asked Mr. Innis (ph) from Oslers to assist us in that regard, so we would take that as an undertaking.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, so you can't answer that, Mr. Vels?  What was the timing of the steps in the deal?  I thought you were there.

MR. VELS:  I was there.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

MR. VELS:  My understanding is that that subscription did occur prior to the sale of shares to the public, but I do really wish to check that --


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

MR. VELS:  -- and ensure that I have that correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So we will have an undertaking for that as well, and we can include with that the provision of the subscription agreement, Mr. Nettleton?

MR. MILLAR:  That's J11.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.11:  TO RESPOND TO EXHIBIT K11.2 QUESTION 2; AND TO PROVIDE THE SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Now, the next question, what I was trying to understand here were the kinds of things that Mr. Shepherd was asking you about today, and he may have covered this, but I was just looking for the accounting entries related to the purchase of the shares, so I think one of them is cash in for $2.6 billion, and what's the offsetting entry?

MR. VELS:  So we can provide that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  11.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.12:  TO RESPOND TO EXHIBIT K11.2 QUESTION 3.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then the next question was about the allocation of the 2.3 billion of departure tax between -- paid by Networks, between transmission and distribution.

Do you have that today or does that need to be answered by undertaking?

MS. CHEUNG:  That needs to be done by undertaking.  We do have those calculations.

MR. MILLAR:  J11.13.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.13:  TO RESPOND TO EXHIBIT K11.2 QUESTION 4.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then the next question related to the discussion when we previously met dealing with getting the money down to the legal entities, I think was the way Ms. Cheung described them.  And I inferred from our discussion then and reading the prospectus that this was accomplished by the sale of shares, and my question is, is that the way it was accomplished, or is it some other --


MR. VELS:  So each of the legal entities in the group were required to pay the departure tax.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MR. VELS:  And the way that was accomplished and the way the $2.6 billion was transferred was by way of share subscriptions for each of the underlying legal entities.

MR. THOMPSON:  So Hydro One Limited bought shares of
-- in terms of Networks, bought more shares of Hydro One Networks Inc.; is that right?

MR. VELS:  So the government would have taken shares in Hydro One Limited.  Hydro One Limited then would have taken shares in Hydro One Inc., Hydro One Inc. shares in Hydro One Networks Inc., and then affiliates would have been dealt with in a similar way, so there are a number of affiliates that would have similar transactions.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And money moved down accordingly.

MR. VELS:  Yes, and the payments were made by each of the legal entities in the group relative to their contribution to the departure tax.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And I have asked for the supporting subscription agreements related to those transactions, and can I have an undertaking to get those?

MR. VELS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  J11.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.14:  TO RESPOND TO EXHIBIT K11.2 QUESTION 5.

MR. THOMPSON:  And item 6 then deals with the payment of -- the timing of the payment of the 2.3 billion from Hydro One.  Did the filter-down transaction all take place in one day, as Mr. Shepherd was suggesting?

MR. VELS:  You mean all of the subscription agreements?
 MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. VELS:  I think they would have been dated on the same day.

MR. THOMPSON:  But did the deal all close in one day or was it --


MR. VELS:  No, it was closed over a number of days, which was part of the difficulty in actually answering whether or not I had been at the closing.  There were hundreds of documents which constituted the closing, as you know, and this being a small part of it.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I was interested in getting the chronology of the timing of those transactions, the movement of the 2.3 billion from Hydro One Limited down to Hydro One Networks Inc.

MR. VELS:  We can provide that.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then just moving on here, a demonstration, again, this -- the debit and the credit that -- the offsetting entries that show up in the companies as the monies moves through them, the shares get purchased and the money moves through them.  Can we do that?

MR. VELS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So is that J11.15.
UNDERTAKING NO.  J11.15:  TO RESPOND TO EXHIBIT K11.2 QUESTION 6.

MR. VELS:  I am not sure I can do that personally, but we will make sure that somebody does it for us.

MR. NETTLETON:  So Mr. Thompson, just to be clear, what I heard was the schedule that you have outlined or indicated in question 6 is both the dates and timing as well as the amounts?

MR. THOMPSON:  Correct.

MR. VELS:  That was my understanding.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then 7 is really a corollary, when the 2.3 billion was paid to the OEFC, and again how that shows up in the statements of Hydro One Networks Inc.  I think that was covered in part by Mr. Shepherd this morning, but if you could take an undertaking on that and fill in any gaps, that would be appreciated.

MR. VELS:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

MR. MILLAR:  It's J11.16.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.16:  TO RESPOND TO EXHIBIT K11.2 QUESTION 7.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Thompson, I just note that in question 7 the question states "payment of departure tax by HONI to the OEFC", and I -- that may be incorrect.  It may be the OEFC payment was made by HOL, H-O-L, Hydro One Limited.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I understood from Ms. Cheung that it was the legal entity that had to pay it, and the legal entity is HONI, H-O-N-I.

MS. CHEUNG:  The legal entity is responsible for the departure tax, but it might be paid on behalf -- it might have been paid by HOI or HOL on behalf of HONI.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, that was the question I asked you last day, and I was told it was HONI, so clarify.

MR. NETTLETON:  We will clarify, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  My next question was trying to understand how the deferred tax asset had been calculated at 2.595 billion, and I believe you have described that to Mr. Shepherd, it's the spread between UCC and the market value times the tax rate?  Is that how it's calculated?  Or have I misunderstood that?

MS. CHEUNG:  The deferred tax asset is based on the fair market value and then tax cost.  It might not be UCC, it might be a different value.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, he took you to that exhibit where --


MS. CHEUNG:  Yeah.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- one was 11 million and the other one is -- sorry, 11 billion and 18 billion, and -- well, you tell me how those two numbers relate to the calculation or if it's something else.

MS. CHEUNG:  The calculation was similar to the departure tax, but the deferred tax asset was different, a little bit different, which we -- I think Mr. Shepherd also asked for an undertaking on that.

MR. THOMPSON:  So that will answer my question, will it?

MS. CHEUNG:  That should.  Was that part of the undertaking?  Sorry?


MR. NETTLETON:  My understanding is that there was an undertaking given to Mr. Shepherd regarding the calculation that informed can deferred tax asset.  I think that's where we got to the auditor document, the working papers or something to that effect so.  But I am going by memory.

MS. CHEUNG:  No that's correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  But Mr. Thompson, maybe what we can give you the assurance of is in that undertaking we will address our mind to this so that we can --


MR. THOMPSON:  My question 8?


MR. NETTLETON:  Your question 8, yes, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thank you.  Then the next question talked -- addresses -- again Mr. Shepherd has dealt with this area as well.  It was the differential, really, between the minimum tax and the tax that you are asking ratepayers to pay.  And whereas I had the 81.3 million in here, it's actually 81.9, I believe, and the 90.4 becomes 89.6.


Is the calculation that's shown in the prospectus that I reference here about how actual tax savings work, if that calculation applies, have I correctly then -- is the difference the amount of cash flow that will go to the shareholder under Hydro One's proposal?  It won't be 61.9 million, but it will be something close for 2017 and it will be something less than 77.3 million for 2018.  Directionally, is this correct?

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Thompson, I suggest we take an undertaking to check your math and we can address any commentary we have on the calculation.

MR. MILLAR:  J11.17.

UNDERTAKING NO. J11.17:  TO RESPOND TO EXHIBIT K11.2, QUESTION 8 and 9

MR. THOMPSON:  The next question is factual.  Did Hydro -- did Networks use any of the CCA benefit in its 2015 tax return?


MS. CHEUNG:  So for 2015 there is three taxation years.  One was when Hydro One Networks departed the PILs regime, October 31st; the second one was when it ceased to be a control -- a Canadian-controlled private corporation, that's stub period was November 4th; and the last stub period was December 31st, 2015, which is the normal fiscal year.  So within those two, November 4th return and December 31st return, we did claim the CCA benefit.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, are those tax returns in the record here?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, it is.

MR. THOMPSON:  All three that you mentioned?


MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, and so for my benefit, what was the saving -- the tax saving, as you described them --realized in cash tax savings realized in 2015?


MS. CHEUNG:  I don't have that information right now, but we have to rerun some calculation as if the IPO did not occur.  So we would have to prepare an estimated tax for the full year without claiming the CCA benefit.

MR. THOMPSON:  I am trying to find out the benefits that flowed to the shareholder as a result of claiming the CCA benefits.  Is that what you are talking about?


MR. VELS:  Yeah.  I think what Ms. Cheung is saying, she just -- it can be calculated, we just need to go back and recalculate what the tax return would have been without the three stub periods and without the transaction.  So, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  So that's an undertaking?


MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.

MR. VELS:  Yes, it is.

MR. MILLAR:  J11.18.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.18:  TO RESPOND TO EXHIBIT K11.2 QUESTION 10


MR. THOMPSON:  And my next question is:  Will you be claiming any portion of the CCA deferred tax benefit in 2016?  2016 will be a complete Revenue Canada year, will it?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, it would be a full federal return for 12 months.  Unfortunately we don't have those numbers right now because the 2016 year has not ended, and we will be filing the 2016 tax return in June of next year.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right, but can you give me an estimate of the actual tax savings that can be realized by using the CCA benefit in Network's 2016 year?


MS. CHEUNG:  That information is not ready at this point.  We calculate a tax provision based on a forecast -- not a forecast, based on budget.  And we then true up to the actual tax provision for year end.

MR. THOMPSON:  Maybe it's the word "actual" that's throwing you off.  For the purpose of the prospectus, you did calculate an estimated tax saving for years going forward and that's been taken into account in the discounted cash flow analysis.  I guess I am asking for the same estimated number for 2016.  Can that be provided?


MR. VELS:  Actually, for the prospectus what we did because we didn't have the information, we provided a pro forma calculation of what would have occurred had the transaction not.  So we used the historical numbers.


Can we undertake to -- maybe that's a bad word.  Can we just think about what we can provide?


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, undertake to consider and if you can give us a number, fine.

MR. VELS:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  It's J11.19.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.19:  TO CONSIDER AN AND ATTEMPT TO RESPOND TO EXHIBIT K11.2 QUESTION 11


MR. THOMPSON:  And then final question in this list was whether as you draw down this deferred tax asset, does that create a liability that becomes payable when crossover occurs?

MR. VELS:  I think the answer is no.  The deferred tax liability that previously existed on the company's balance sheet prior to any of these transactions occurring is a reflection of the timing difference between accounting taxes and what's actually charged in rates.


And because of the way the rate setting works where our cash taxes are included in rates, there is an offsetting regulatory asset on the balance sheet that would offset that liability.  So that accounting is completely separate from the deferred tax asset that was raised as a result of the IPO.  So as that deferred tax asset, the bump effectively, is utilized, that would reduce down to zero the other timing differences that relate to the regulated assets.  And the revenue requirements inherent in those expenses would continue as usual and independent of the utilization of the deferred tax asset.

MR. THOMPSON:  So you said you think.  Is that your opinion that that's what happens?  Or is that what happens? Or do you need to the take advice on that?


MS. CHEUNG:  I agree with Mike -- I mean Mr. Vels.  The deferred tax asset that's set up from the fair market value bump will be reduced over time.  It doesn't create a deferred tax liability, and does not affect the regulatory deferred taxes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well I just want to be clear that you are not answering that question on the presumption that this is an unregulated asset.  I guess on the assumption that this is a regulated asset, does the draw-down of the benefit produce an off-setting deferred tax liability that becomes payable when crossover occurs?

MR. VELS:  That one I will have to consider.

MR. THOMPSON:  That's my question.

MR. VELS:  Okay, well, sorry.  I apologize.  That wasn't clear to me.

MR. MILLAR:  And that's J11.20.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.20:  ON THE ASSUMPTION THAT THIS IS A REGULATED ASSET, TO ADVISE WHETHER THE DRAW-DOWN OF THE BENEFIT PRODUCES AN OFF-SETTING DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY THAT BECOMES PAYABLE WHEN CROSSOVER OCCURS

MR. THOMPSON:  And then my final question on this fascinating topic, I must say, goes back to the prospectus.  And it's also statements contained in your annual report that everybody has referenced earlier, but I am at the prospectus in -- at page 162, where the risks associated with the deferred tax account -- the deferred tax asset are being discussed.  And there is a statement in here that says:

"There is a risk that in future rate applications..."

Just pausing there, this is a future rate application?  Are we agreed on that?

MR. VELS:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  "The Ontario Energy Board will
reduce the company's revenue requirement by all or a portion of those net cash savings."

And my question is, what is it that gives rise to that risk?

MR. VELS:  The risk that this panel would take a different point of view than the one we have presented in the application.

MR. THOMPSON:  So is it the risk that this panel finds the benefit follows costs principle doesn't apply?  Is that what it is, or is it the risk that flow-through taxes means what is actually payable?  Does that capture the concepts that are giving rise to this risk, or is there something else?

MR. VELS:  We concluded that our treatment of the deferred tax asset and the reasoning of the deferred tax asset on the balance sheet was supported by good precedent and regulatory principle, so we have outlined in our evidence.  All that evidence is subject to test, and there is always a chance that the Ontario Energy Board Panel will take a different perspective.  In the context of an IPO we considered that to be a reasonable risk to point out.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so if that risk materializes, how can shareholders be said to be harmed when they've gone into this with their eyes open?

MR. VELS:  We are not including risks like that and many others which are in the prospectus -- I think there's pages of them -- to take the point of view that shareholders are not harmed when in fact they are.  We are pointing out in buying the shares of the company -- and there are many other risks that we point out as well -- if any of these risks were to actually occur, you could be harmed.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much for your patience.  Those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.

Just one area that I just wanted to touch on.  We don't have to spend a lot of time on it -- I don't think we do, anyway -- is on the filing of the consolidated business plan, and I think we suggested in advance that we just wanted to touch on this from the perspective of the issues that arise, and I think you've mentioned, Mr. Vels, earlier in the hearing about the practical matters of having consolidated business plans which won't be on the regulated business and the filing of that and the confidential matters that would arise from that, so I think what we have received is the excerpts from that consolidated plan that
-- excerpts with respect to transmission and distribution.

And I think that to the extent that in your cover letter, Mr. Nettleton, you point out that it would require substantial redaction to protect material non-public information and information that is not otherwise relevant, and the Board took your point and accepted what was provided.

I just ask you, Mr. Vels, if -- and knowing now that
-- of what interest this is to the Board and how the Board links the consolidated business plan to make its observations on how the regulated business are being run and the long-term vision of the corporation, is there another -- if you could start again in the formatting of the consolidated business plans to avoid that type of issue in that -- is there a better way that you can think of and perhaps you would have taken a different route in constructing the consolidated plan in order to be of more assistance to the Board so we are not getting excerpts, necessarily, but something that is tailored to what the Board's requirements are?

MR. VELS:  It's a good question.  We did think about it carefully when we put this format together, and the approach we took was to take each of the very large businesses' business plans and aggregate them up.

The -- I guess the point I have taken from the discussion is that they are elements of nexus or context that are of importance to the Board.  The most significant, I think, is for sure corporate -- the common cost element, and how that's dealt with in total and how it's allocated to each of the affiliates.

In retrospect I do believe the -- differentiating the different types of customers is helpful context.  And so I think the benefit of doing it the way we have is that the Board receives documents that can be read from start to finish with some coherency do outline all of what we consider important for the particular business's business plan, and I think on the spur of the moment as you ask me the question, which is a good one, in the future ones I would probably take those areas of nexus and probably include those in the subsidiary business plans and ensure that we have covered off any context in that manner, and we would -- I expect we would probably do that, because it adds to the quality of the document, I think it's good context, and that would leave a very thin and quite -- I'd say a small consolidated business plan that only dealt with items that really were not of interest.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you for that.

Oh, Mr. Thompson has one more follow-up.

MR. THOMPSON:  Just, there is one other thing that was troubling me about this fair-market-value bump.  Will this come into play if Hydro One, which is now a private company, consolidates with municipally owned utilities?  Is that going to be a problem for us?  Is it going to trigger a departure tax obligation for the municipal utilities?

MS. CHEUNG:  I think there is two things need to be considered is a transfer tax and a departure tax.  If we acquired an MEU.

MR. THOMPSON:  So is it again a large number?

MS. CHEUNG:  It depends on their value.

MR. THOMPSON:  I know it depends on the size of the utility, but --


MR. VELS:  It depends on the size, but I believe the position we have taken here is consistent with our MAAD applications and regulatory practice, but I would take that subject to check.  I don't believe so, but I would really have to think through that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Any redirect, Mr. Nettleton?

MR. NETTLETON:  No, Mr. Chairman, no redirect.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.  Thank you very much for your return engagement.  I think it was a very fruitful day.  It was a very -- obviously this is not something we do very often, and I think the Board found it necessary to do so, and we appreciate your willingness to come back and assist us.  Thank you very much.

MR. VELS:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Why don't we take a 15-minute break and return at 4:10 and have the finance panel back up, Mr. Nettleton.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:54 p.m.

--- On resuming at 4:08 p.m.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - FINANCE PANEL, resumed

Joel Jodoin,
Samir Chhelavda,
Keith McDonell,
Judy McKellar; Previously Affirmed.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, please be seated.  We will wait another minute, we are jumping the gun here.

Just to lay out expectations for the rest of the day, we have got Mr. Millar from Board Staff, who will be going first.  Mr. Millar, you are still on for thirty minutes or thereabouts.  And Ms. Girvan, you will be following Mr. Millar and with the hope to completing today depending -- it's always a hope.  We will see where we are.

MS. GIRVAN:  How late are we sitting today?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Not a lot past five. If you're close at five --


MS. GIRVAN:  No, I am going to get done, I have been waiting a week.  And the big joke is that we weren't going to get to me today and I would have to go back again.

MR. QUESNELLE:  All right, so we will attempt to accommodate that.  All right.

Mr. Millar, is there anything preliminary in advance of this panel that you want to raise with us?

MR. NETTLETON:  Thankfully, no.

MR. QUESNELLE:  All right, Mr. Millar.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, and good afternoon panel.  We're back to our regularly scheduled programming.

Before I begin my cross, I circulated two documents in advance.  The first is a Board Staff compendium for panel 8, and then I recognize I actually left a document out of that, and that's a short excerpt from the Auditor General's annual report from 2016.  Did you receive those beforehand?

MR. McDONELL:  We have received the panel 8 compendium.  I don't believe we have the Auditor General report, though.

MR. JODOIN:  We do.

MR. McDONELL:  Sorry, correction; we do.

MR. MILLAR:  Very good.  Why don't I just mark those and we have some copies for the panel, and if anyone else needs them.  The first can be Staff's compendium, which can be K11.3, and the excerpt from the Auditor General's 2016 report, K11.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K11.3:  BOARD STAFF CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR THE FINANCE PANEL

EXHIBIT NO. K11.4:  EXCERPT FROM THE AUDITOR GENERAL'S 2016 REPORT


If we could begin with that, I will actually take you to the Auditor General's report just to get that out of the way.  I just have some questions on your accounting methodology.

If you turn to the last page of that document, I will take you straight to the recommendation, down at the bottom, recommendation number 6. And there is a whole big preamble to this, but I don't propose to take you all through it.

The final word from the AG is on this is:
"We recommend that the province of Ontario include Hydro One and OPG financial information in the consolidated financial statements using the IFRS reporting framework as required by PSAB standards."

Were you aware of that recommendation before I circulated this document?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  Actually, we were.  We've -- when we were taking our results and converting them from US GAAP to IFRS, the Auditor General did indicate to both ourselves and OPG that their expectation is that our results would be in accordance with PSAB, which the basis of accounting is IFRS, so yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you have any intention of moving to IFRS?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  No, we do not.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And why is that?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  For a variety of reasons.  One is currently we are a US GAAP filer, and we have the right to use US GAAP as approved by the OEB, and further solidified by the fact that Hydro One Inc. has debt securities listed with the Securities Exchange Commission.

Many of our peer companies also use US GAAP, so it makes comparisons between our operations and theirs much easier.  There is inherently a cost associated with transitioning to IFRS, namely systems, which would be quite significant.  And in the year that you adopt IFRS, there would be a significant rate impact to customers based on the changes, or what's allowed to be capitalized under US GAAP versus IFRS.

MR. MILLAR:  I actually have some questions about that, so perhaps we could turn to the Staff compendium at page 16.  And just to preface my remarks on the Staff compendium, I think everything in here is already on the record; it's just for our ease of reference.  And this is a reference to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 75, where we asked you some questions about your overhead capitalization policies; do you recall that?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And we asked you about how things would be different under IFRS, and I understood the response to be -- if you look down at (c), if you were under IFRS, you would be able to capitalize approximately $310 million less; is that correct?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  That was our estimate at that point in time, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That's on a company-wide basis?  So that's for distribution and transmission?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Is it possible to get the number for transmission?  Is that something -- is there an allocation that can be done to provide that number?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  So my colleague, Mr. Jodoin, has just indicated to me that it is actually in evidence.  We are just going to dig up the reference.  It is on --


MR. JODOIN:  So if you could refer to Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 3, page 24, as part of other OM&A, we outline for the transmission segment for both the '17 and '18 test years the amount of capitalized overheads.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So can you give me what the number would be for transmission?  I just don't have that in front of me.

MR. JODOIN:  Sorry, sorry about that.  We are pulling it up on the screen, but it 133 million for 2017 and 135 million in 2018.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, it was 135 for 2018?

MR. JODOIN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So imagine if you were under IFRS, as I understand, you would not be able to capitalize all that.  Is that correct?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  That would be correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And the impact on that on a revenue requirement basis would be you'd have to -- it would be under OM&A instead?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Just if we were to play this out, if you took 2017 for an example, the $133 million would come out of your rate base, but instead it would be recovered through O&M, is that right?

MR. JODOIN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We don't need the numbers exact; I just want the play out how this would work.  So there'd be -- you would have lower rate base, which would result in a lower cost of capital, right?  You would recover less ROE and debt expense related to that 133?

MR. JODOIN:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And also there might be a small amount for depreciation as well?  There could be a depreciation expense?

MR. JODOIN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Is it possible to have those numbers run, actually, what the actual revenue requirement impact would be if you could not capitalize that, and instead had to expense it through OM&A?

MR. JODOIN:  Sure, we could that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you very much.  So that would be J11.21.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.21:  TO RUN THE NUMBERS TO SHOW THE IMPACT ON REVENUE REQUIREMENT IF THE AMOUNT COULD NOT BE CAPITALIZED, BUT HAD TO BE EXPENSED THROUGH OM&A


MR. MILLAR:  And I think, Mr. Chhelavda, you might have addressed this already, but just to make sure I have it, you explained to me some of the reasons you didn't propose to move from IFRS to -- pardon me, move from US GAAP to IFRS.  Imagine the board was interested in pursuing that type of policy, is there -- you have given the reasons you don't want to do it.  Is there a reason that it could not be done, though?

For example, if the board was to phase in a different overhead capitalization policy, would that impact your ability to get a clean audit under US GAAP?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  Sorry, is your question -- maybe I am not understanding the question fully.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe I wasn't clear.  Why don't I start again?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's imagine the Board is interested in having you pursue the IFRS style capitalization policy with respect to overheads.  If the Board were to do that, what, if any, practical considerations should the Board be aware of?  And just as an example I gave, would you still be able to get a clean audit opinion with respect to US GAAP, or are there any other things that we might want to be aware of if we were to suggest such a course?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  So if overhead capitalization, if the parameters of how what and how we can capitalize changed at this stage -- and I am just thinking out loud -- I do not believe there would be -- that would be something that would impact us in getting a clean audit opinion.

The issue is more around how you would practically implement that.

I mean, our systems are set up for us to report under US GAAP, so now this would in effect entail keeping two sets of books.  There is an exceptional cost inherent in that.  So that would be a limiting factor for us.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So there would be some practical difficulties.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, anything else we should be aware of?  I am not suggesting there is, I just want to give you an opportunity to give a full answer.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  You know, aside from the fact of the cost and the administrative burden of keeping two sets of books, those are the two things that jump out of me.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you very much.

I'll move on -- I have a number of kind of odds and sods I want to get through.  Some questions on the Niagara reinforcement project.  And I am not necessarily going to take you to any references in the evidence.  You are seeking to recover, I guess it's the straight debt costs related to that asset; is that correct, as has happened in the past?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Are there any updates with respect to that dispute?  Do you have any sense of what's going to happen with that, anything going on?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  You know, at this point I have no updates, I am not aware.  I mean, our preference would be to be able to complete the line, but again, I have no updates.

MR. MILLAR:  So here today you don't have any particular expectation regarding when or even if that line will enter service?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  To the best of my knowledge, I am not aware of anything.

MR. MILLAR:  And if we look at this from a rate-setting perspective, I want to kind of play out what's going to happen with this.  Currently you are just recovering your debt costs associated with, I guess, the capital costs of the asset; is that correct?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And it's a straight debt cost.  You are not getting any return on equity with regard to that?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And in terms of -- the asset is aging, but you are not recovering any depreciation or anything like that?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  No, we are not.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So when this -- if this were to enter service, just for fun let's say tomorrow, would there have to be an offset for several years' worth of depreciation, or have you given any thought to how that would actually play out as we tried to put the asset into rates?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  I am sorry, I don't think I follow your question in terms of the offset.  Why would there been an offset in terms of depreciation --


MR. MILLAR:  Well, I don't know if there would be an offset or -- how long has this -- what has been built -- how long has it been standing there?  Five, six, seven years?  I...

MR. CHHELAVDA:  To the best of my knowledge, the asset is still sitting there at its cost, so I do not believe it's been depreciated, so I don't think there would be a requirement for depreciation, but we can double-check that.

MR. MILLAR:  Yeah, okay.  I mean, I recognize you are not seeking to put this into rates, and this is more -- maybe it's for the next case, I don't know, we just -- sooner or later something will probably have to happen to that line, and I just wanted to know any thoughts you had on how that might play out.

Since you don't have an expectation that it's going to go into service in the immediate future, I don't know that I need any more from you with respect to that.  But you can confirm depreciation has not been recovered through rates?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  And you are not seeking that in this application.  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And hopefully it's not targeted for zinc coating yet, so...

MR. MILLAR:  I had a series of questions on that, but I --


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.

MR. MILLAR:  -- guess I will let that go.  Let me move on.  Quickly, just -- this may be more a matter for argument, but just let me -- I will put some questions to you to see if there is any reaction.  I understand that you recover your pension expenses on a cash basis; is that right?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And your OPEBs you recover on an accrual basis; is that correct?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  You may have been following how this issue has played out in some other proceedings and OPG, and you are probably aware that there is some policy work going on with respect to that at the Board?  You are familiar with that?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  I am, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  If the Board were to determine in this proceeding that OPEB should also be recovered on a cash basis, other than that -- than the fact that that's not what you have proposed, are there any practical issues that we should be aware of?  Anything the Board should know other than the fact that you don't want to do it as to why it might be problematic?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  Well, if you recover OPEBs on a cash basis, and US GAAP strictly prohibits that, what it would do, in my opinion, is it would presumably result in income-statement volatility, and generally when you have income-statement volatility capital markets don't really like that.  There could be an impact on potentially your cost of borrowing.  That's one practical issue I see.

From an accounting point of view, I understand KPMG has put out some new thoughts on how this potentially could work.  It is a very, umm, I will say leading-edge interpretation of the US GAAP guidance.  Umm, if it's implemented anyone who does that -- who would do that would be in effect testing the US GAAP guidance and what it was intended to do, and there was some risk that the U.S. accounting authorities may disallow that treatment, so that's another practical risk that we have to be aware of.

MR. MILLAR:  And that doesn't apply to pensions?  This is probably just --


MR. CHHELAVDA:  For pensions that are under US GAAP there are two methodologies that are accepted for recovery, cash basis or accrual.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that's helpful.  So it's permitted for pensions --


MR. CHHELAVDA:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  -- but at least currently it may or may not be permitted for OPEBs?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  Cash basis recovery is not permitted under US GAAP for OPEBs, nor is it under IFRS either.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, let me move on.  Some questions on compensation.  If I could take you back -- it seems like months ago, but I think it was probably on Thursday -- you had a discussion with Mr. Stephenson, and I don't -- I don't propose to pull up the transcript, though we can if you need some help refreshing your memory.


But you may recall that he suggested to you that there were some restrictions on Hydro One's ability to negotiate with its unions that other businesses may not have, and he gave some examples that you can't leave the jurisdiction, you have limited ability to outsource, an extended lock-out is not really an option, and I don't need to go through all of those with you, but do you recall that discussion with Mr. Stephenson?

MR. McDONELL:  I do recall that, and I think that's a fair characterization of it, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, just a quick follow-up on that.  You are, of course, familiar with the Mercer -- I won't call it report, but the slide presentation which I think was marked as K9.8.

MR. McDONELL:  I am familiar with that.

MR. MILLAR:  And there is a peer group there.  By and large, are you able to say whether or not the same limiting factors Hydro One has would also be true of most of the organizations in that peer group?  If you need assistance, it's listed at page 8 of the slide report, page 8 of Exhibit K9.8.

MR. McDONELL:  I would say for the utilities that are listed in the peer group that's probably a fair statement.  I am not so sure about some of the other regulated businesses, such as Bell Canada.  They may have different options I am just simply not aware of.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe I can ask the question more broadly then:  Do you have any reason to believe that Mercer has -- that there are problems with Mercer's peer group?

MR. McDONELL:  No, I don't.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

He also asked you some questions about OMERS, there was discussion about the contribution ratio, the employer/employee contributions ratio, and it was raised that at OMERS that is a one-to-one ratio, and then you two had a back-and-forth which I didn't really understand, and maybe I don't need to understand all the details or not, and I can ask this at a higher level.

Is the contribution ratio for OMERS one-to-one or is it not?

MR. McDONELL:  I believe it is a -- I believe it is 50-50, and I think the conversation was more about the fact that OMERS is a jointly-sponsored pension fund, as opposed to the Hydro One, which is not.  And so with a jointly-sponsored pension fund both parties share in the liabilities.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, that's helpful.

With respect to your negotiations with your unions to arrive at the collective agreements, am I correct that those negotiations are confidential?  I am not asking for them, just, you sit in a room with your unions, I assume, and you have a back-and-forth, you --


MR. McDONELL:  They would be private negotiations, yes --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, they're --


MR. McDONELL:  -- ultimately the collective agreement is a public document, but the actual negotiations would be private.

MR. MILLAR:  Exactly.  And let me be clear.  I am not asking you to reveal anything that was said, but this would be a negotiation where there could well be some back-and-forth, there may be offers and counter-offers, a negotiation like any other?  Is that fair?

MR. McDONELL:  It is a very traditional characterization, sure.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But as you say, the output of that is the collective agreement that you reach with your unions, is that right?

MR. McDONELL:  Correct, correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And that's the public document, and it's on the record -- they are both on the record in this proceeding?

MR. McDONELL:  That is right.

MR. MILLAR:  Would you agree with me that if the Board is going to assess the reasonableness of your compensation costs, it has to look at that outcome?  It has to look at the collective agreements, and that's where are the compensation is detailed?  That's the only information the Board has with respect to what happened, so that's what the Board has the review when it's considering the reasonableness of your compensation costs?

MR. McDONELL:  Well, I mean, I think it's probably a little bit more than the actual collective agreement, because in our evidence, we have provided examples of where, as result of those negotiations, we have achieved savings in a variety of different areas.

So I think you have to look at a little bit more than just the collective agreement.

MR. MILLAR:  That's fair.  I know that you have detailed through the evidence where there have been some year over year savings, and that may not actually itemized in the collective agreement.

MR. McDONELL:  For sure.

MR. MILLAR:  It's in there, but I accept that you can describe how the collective agreement is different from previous agreements, and things like that.

But the Board can't make an assessment of how well you negotiated, other than looking at the collective agreement; is that fair?  That's the outcome?

MR. McDONELL:  I think generally I would agree with that.  But I think you would look at other situations like our successor employers and how they have bargained with their unions, because we all came from the very same spot.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that's right.  And we would look at their collective agreements.

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  That's where the rubber hits the road.  Okay.  I think we broadly agree on that, so I will move on. Can I ask you to turn to page 9 of the Board Staff compendium?  This is a series of tables from Exhibit C1, tab 4, schedule 1.

MR. McDONELL:  The famous payroll table, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I am sorry to take you back there.  I recognize there is an undertaking with respect to some of this.  But I have some questions, and maybe they'll already be covered in the undertaking.  But I thought I would take a few moments to go over this with you.

First of all, you confirmed for Mr. Rubenstein that these tables cover both distribution and transmission; is that right?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Does it include both regulated and non-regulated?

MR. McDONELL:  It's just Hydro One Networks.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So does that mean it's just the regulated?

MR. McDONELL:  Just regulated, distribution and transmission.

MR. MILLAR:  And I know -- I think it's undertaking 10.2.  You were going to look at whether or not this can be split out by transmission.

MR. McDONELL:  That's correct, and we are working on that right now.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If I look across the top, there is something called other allowances.  What are those?

MR. McDONELL:  Other allowances; it really depends on the employee group that you are referring to, but it would cover off things like allowances such as food allowance, or when someone terminates if they have outstanding vacation pay.  For our management employees, we have a thing called general benefits account where it's a flex benefit program and any credits that aren't used are paid out at year-end.

So it's a hodgepodge of a variety of different types of allowances.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  As Mr. Rubenstein went over with you, this table doesn't show pensions, does it?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And are you pension costs actually shown anywhere in the application, like the money you are spending on pensions either on a company-wide basis or for transmission?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  We do disclose the cash funding of the pension which is our cost, if that's the question.  It is in the evidence.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So could you point me to that?  We don't have to pull it up necessarily.  First, is it on a company-wide basis, or is it for transmission?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  So it would be provided, I believe, in the evidence for transmission.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So one of the things Mr. Rubenstein had gone over with you, and I think it's covered in 10.2, but he was going to ask that pensions be included in the response.  Have I got that right?

MR. NETTLETON:  We are just digging up the evidence, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  So we do actually have the pension numbers in Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 131, on page 1 of 4 in our response to part (a) of the interrogatory, we provide the total cash pension cost.

MR. NETTLETON:  Just wait for the exhibit to come up.

MR. MILLAR:  Sure.  Of course it's a Staff one.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  So if you see in table A, it gives you the total pension cost for '17 and '18 and then further down, you will have a breakdown between transmission, distribution, capital and OM&A.

MR. MILLAR:  An that is on a cash basis?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And will that information be provided in response to Mr. Rubenstein's undertaking 10.2?  I thought he had asked for kind of all the compensation elements to be included in that response.

MR. JODOIN:  So we are working through that undertaking, and we are making some head way on it.  We will likely just refer to this interrogatory as it does provide the pension-specific details.

MR. MILLAR:  No, it doesn't provide -- it doesn't break it down between the PWU, the Society and management; is that right?

MR. JODOIN:  We will take a look and, to the extent we can go to that detail, we will include it in 10.2.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Going back to this Staff compendium and those tables, OPEBs are not included here either?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And at the risk of you taking me to another Staff interrogatory, are the accrual costs for your OPEBs, can those be found in the application?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  I believe they can and it would be the same interrogatory that we have pulled up, which was 131.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  And as you can see, it provides -- in part (b), it will provide the OPEBs, the amounts included in rates on the OM&A piece, and then the capital piece, which will be the amounts that would be capitalized in that given year.

MR. MILLAR:  Can I ask then, on the same basis as you have tried to help us on the pensions issue, can that information be included in the response to Mr. Rubenstein's undertaking 10.2?  What we are hoping to get is kind of all this information put in one place, so we can kind of compare year to year, whether the costs are going up or whether they are going down and by how much.

A table like this, I know OPG has provided something similar to this that just kind of sets it out in one line, and it's very easy to kind of compare between year to year.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  So, yes, it can be done.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Again back to the Staff compendium and the tables -- Mr. Rubenstein may have asked you this, but I am not sure I got the answer.

The lump sum payments that are negotiated in the collective agreements, can they be found here?  So if you go to page 13 of the Staff compendium, I think that's the 2017 year, does that include the lump sum payment?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, I can confirm that any lump sum payments were included under the base pay, or either PWU or Society in the relevant years.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And what about the cost of the share grant; is that in there as well?

MR. McDONELL:  No, no the share grant is not included.  But we have provided the share grant costs in a couple of different interrogatories.

MR. MILLAR:  In staff 128, for example.  I believe that's in our compendium.

MR. McDONELL:  I believe so.

MR. MILLAR:  So could I ask, just in the hope of getting all this kind of in one spot, could we have that in -- those costs, which I know you have already done, included in the response to Undertaking 10.2, just so we can see them all together?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, we can add that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, because I wanted to follow up on that.  So Staff 128, which is at page 6 of the compendium, you provide those costs.  And if you look at the bottom where the response is, it's three-and-a-half million for 2017 and 4.7 million for 2018, because that's when you had the Society coming on?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, and that is both the TX capital and OM&A costs, the 3.5 million and the 4.7 million.

MR. MILLAR:  Yeah, because you have probably seen where I am going.  If you look at Energy Probe 29, which is on the next page, we have different figures, so could you walk me through why those are different?

MR. McDONELL:  Page 29 --


MR. MILLAR:  It's page 7 of the compendium.  It's --


MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  -- Energy Probe 29.

MR. McDONELL:  That would be just the OM&A cost --


MR. MILLAR:  And, sorry, what does the Staff one include?

MR. McDONELL:  The Staff is transmission capital and OM&A.

MR. MILLAR:  Forgive my ignorance.  What are the capital costs associated with that?

MR. McDONELL:  I believe it's the depreciation.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  No, so a portion, like, following all compensation, a portion of the stock-based compensation granted to the represented staff will be capitalized in the same proportion as their compensation would be.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I see, so these are capitalized overheads?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I understood --


MR. CHHELAVDA:  Actually, it would be cap -- it wouldn't be overheads, it would be capitalized labour costs.

MR. MILLAR:  Capitalized labour costs.  Okay.  But you're not -- this is not capital in the sense that you have gone and -- I think I understand, I think I understand.

MR. JODOIN:  And to be clear, it could also be the capitalized overheads, because this is applicable to all staff --


MR. MILLAR:  It could be --


MR. JODOIN:  -- and there are some represented employees that are part of the overhead calculation.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand.

Okay.  Could I ask you to turn to page 8 of the Staff compendium.  And this was an undertaking response from the technical conference in which Staff was trying to get a handle on the year-over-year increases to total compensation, and you've helpfully provided us with a response there, but I just want to make sure I have it right.  I am not sure I am -- I want to make sure I understand the response.

So if you look, for example, the first paragraph deals with the PWU, and you start by pointing out -- there is at line 11 a 1 percent base wage increase, and then the next line you discuss the share grant equal to 2.7 percent of the April 1st, 2015 base rate by IPO share price.

So just looking at those two to start, if I wanted to get the year-over-year increase would I just add those two numbers?

MR. McDONELL:  Well, I mean, one could look at it -- that would be a 3.7 percent increase, so that's one way to look at it, but that would not be the same thing as saying that's a 3.7 percent increase in the base pay.

The other thing that we are trying to point out is that the 2.7 percent share grant that kicks in at 2017 is offset by the employee contributions to their pension from 2015, 2016, and 2017.  If you add up the accumulated value or increase of the pension contributions that equates to 2.7 percent, which is the share grant that's paid out in 2017.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That's what I didn't understand, because if -- yeah, if you look at the next sentence, it says:

"An increase to pension contributions of an average of .7 percent will also be implemented, which brings the total pension contribution increase on average to 2.7 percent since April 1st, 2015."

MR. McDONELL:  That's what we are trying to show, how that balances off.

MR. MILLAR:  But the increase in pension contributions -- you are talking about the employee.

MR. McDONELL:  The employee --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. McDONELL:  -- contribution --


MR. MILLAR:  That wasn't clear when I read that --


MR. McDONELL:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  -- so I apologize.

So there is no increase in employer contributions that are --


MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, I think when we see -- hopefully the response to 10.2 will give us kind of an overall -- an overall view of total compensation.  I guess we will have the number of employees, so we can look at that, but will 10.2 help us in doing a year-over-year comparison of what the average per employee changes in compensation are, total compensation?

MR. McDONELL:  We believe so.  We haven't finished it yet, but...

MR. MILLAR:  I understand, I understand.  Okay.  I will let you know, that's kind of what we are hoping to be able to see, and I recognize there are some -- there may be some limitations on what you can get, but that's why we want that, and those are the comparisons we are hoping to do.

Okay.  Just give me a moment here.

Okay.  Recognizing Ms. Girvan's desire to get out of here and never return, those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

MR. McDONELL:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

We won't accept that premise, Ms. Girvan, but please go ahead.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So first of all, I do have a compendium, and I have sent an electronic version to Hydro One, and I think Mr. Thiessen has it.  I put it on your chair.  And copies for the panel.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, can we have that -- it's K11.5, the CCC compendium.
EXHIBIT NO. K11.5:  CCC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR THE FINANCE PANEL.

MS. GIRVAN:  But -- excuse me, Ms. Henderson.  Before I turn to that, I am going to look at one interrogatory response first that's not in the compendium, and that's CCC 25, which is I, tab 13, schedule 25.  Great, thank you.

So panel, this is an historical representation of your OM&A costs since 2013, and if we can turn to pages 2, 3, and 4, where we have got Board-approved versus actual.  And Mr. Brett took you to this, I think, earlier but didn't -- sort of was leaving it, I guess, until later, but what I wanted to do is point out, and if you will agree with me, that in each year since 2012 that your actual O&M costs, according to this schedule, has been below what was approved by the Board?

MR. JODOIN:  I don't believe that to be true.  2015, the actuals are in excess --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So --


MR. JODOIN:  -- of the approved.

MS. GIRVAN:  -- can I just -- then I just wanted to say if we look at -- if we look at all the years except for 2015, that's the case; that's correct?

MR. JODOIN:  Correct, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So in 2015, I believe that you had an adjustment of $20 million that was agreed to through the settlement agreement with respect to OM&A?

MR. JODOIN:  Correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  So if you turn to 2015, the actuals are 441.6 million.  And what Hydro One had applied for was the $20 million on top of the 431.2; is that correct?

MR. JODOIN:  Correct, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  So, sorry, that's on page -- you can see it on page 4.

MR. JODOIN:  Yes, so essentially what you have done is you have added the 20 million to the 431.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, yeah.

MR. JODOIN:  Okay.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  I just wanted to get that clear.

So with respect to OM&A generally you have provided documents earlier in the filing describing your overall budgeting process, and I just wanted to find out, has that process changed significantly over the past couple of years in any way?

MR. JODOIN:  I think you will have to narrow down the question, and the reason why I say that is because what this panel can speak to is the common corporate components of the OM&A from a planning or a -- sorry, a sustainment, development, and operating level.  It wouldn't be my place to talk to the process in deriving that.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But each year you issue -- your senior executives issue budget directives to your employees, and you follow through a process in putting these budgets together, and I am just wondering if that in any way has changed significantly.

MR. JODOIN:  So I would agree with the first part of your comment, in that happens annually.  Like I said, I can't speak to the items that I previously mentioned.  From a common corporate cost perspective, I can tell you that nothing materially has changed in the process.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, now, does it concern you at all that in fact in each and every year you apply for a certain amount but at the end of the day the spending is less?  Does that concern you from a budgeting perspective?

MR. JODOIN:  Well, I think -- I don't think it's appropriate to look at the analysis in such an aggregate term.  I think you would have to dig in and understand what were the reasons for those underages before making a statement like that.

MS. GIRVAN:  Sure, I understand that.  But I think -- I mean, as you may well know, this Board looks at the global amount in terms of seeing what's appropriate from an O&M perspective.

MR. JODOIN:  Sorry, is there a question?

MS. GIRVAN:  That's fine, I'll leave that.  So I just wanted to look at some of the categories, just quickly within the context of this interrogatory, and what you said is, well, you have to look at -- you can't really look at the aggregate.  You are going to look at the individual items.

AA and I just wanted to point out there's certain aspects of your budget that each and every year, your forecast -- your actual amounts are less than your forecast, and I am just going to highlight -- and I know that you are not speaking to many of these, but I wanted to highlight environmental management, engineering and environmental support, technical, smart grid, environmental health and safety, and property taxes and rights payment.

So I just wanted to point out that in each and every year, your actual expenditures in these categories are less, have been less.  Would you agree with that?

MR. JODOIN:  Could you please repeat the -- I mean, I am just trying to follow along as you listed off all these, and I have to reference across every year in order to confirm that the logic is correct.

So if you can repeat the categories so I can follow.

MS. GIRVAN:  We have environmental management, we have engineering and environmental support, we have technical studies, we have smart grid, we have environmental health and safety and property taxes and rights.

I guess I am just -- I am just trying to take a look at O&M globally, and yours seems to be the first panel that's letting me do that.  So I just wanted to highlight the numbers on the record and the pattern, and I just wanted to see if you agree with me.

MR. JODOIN:  Sorry, I missed the last part of that statement.

MS. GIRVAN:  Just if you are agreeing with my observations about the global numbers, that's all.

MR. JODOIN:  Generally, I do agree with your observations, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you very much.  So just to move on, I would like to get an understanding of your O&M numbers up to date today, so here we are today, because there have been several updates within the context of the application.

And I would also like to get a better understanding of the way you account for your O&M costs, generally.  I think you are the one that was going to help me with that.

MR. JODOIN:  Sure.  I can help with that, sure.

MS. GIRVAN:  Great.  So if you turn to my compendium and on July -- you filed your evidence on May 31st, as I understand it, and on page 1 of the compendium, you filed an update on July 20th, 2016.  And you agree with that; you can see that there.

MR. JODOIN:  I agree, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  So a major part of that update were what I would call sort of adjustments, and those adjustments were all related to OM&A costs, is that correct?  The major adjustments?

MR. JODOIN:  Yes, I believe all the blue-page adjustments related to OM&A.

MS. GIRVAN:  And that included decreased pension costs based on an actuarial evaluation.  Is that right?

MR. JODOIN:  That was one of the adjustments, correct, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  So that was just you had a valuation done and the result of that came up with a cost reduction, is that correct?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  Correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  And then you had removal of the B2M LP costs.  Can you just briefly explain what those were?

MR. JODOIN:  Sure.  So what these were, so 2017 specifically, I believe the number was 800,000 as part of the update.  That was for certain common functions that would support the Bruce to Milton segment that were previously included as part of this application inappropriately, and should not have been.  So we were updating to back out.

And in 2018, that update was around 2 million and that included, I believe, some lines work.  But I would appreciate the chance to check that, if that's an important --


MS. GIRVAN:  No, that's fine.  I just wanted an understanding.  And the third one was a lower OEB assessment, is that correct?

MR. JODOIN:  Correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  So those three adjustments, they weren't related to some productivity that you've undertaken or some costs reductions.  It's just these kind of fell through the evidence based on these three things happening; is that correct?

MR. JODOIN:  Well, I would disagree.  I don't disagree about the characterization of productivity; I believe Mr. Vels spoke to the pension update.  With that being said, we did file a response to -- I believe it was technical conference undertaking in which we made clear that the pension revaluation was due to an acceleration of a revaluation -- perhaps my colleague can expand a little bit more.

MS. GIRVAN:  Well, it's a just change of cost, right, based on that valuation?

MR. JODOIN:  And it was evaluated ahead of when it should be completed.

MS. GIRVAN:  All right, thank you very much.  So if you turn to page 3 of the compendium, I just want to get --because I think we have had several times what the actual rate increases year over year are for the overall application, and I just wanted to confirm where we are today; what's your application asking for?

MR. JODOIN:  Sure, if you just give me a chance to pull up the numbers.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. JODOIN:  I believe I briefly mentioned this.  I think it was last Thursday now, at the outset of our panel.  Yes, as it comes up here.  If you just scroll down a little bit here.  Okay.

So if we refer to lines 27 and 28, it will show the requested rate increase after considering load implications on 2017.  So it's 2.6 percent for 2017 and 4.8 percent for 2018.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So that's the final numbers that we have today, and that's what you are seeking approval for?

MR. JODOIN:  As filed today, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  So if you can please turn to page 5 of the compendium, and this hasn't been updated, this 2016 Board-approved versus OM&A expenditures; is that correct?  As my note says "not updated".

MR. JODOIN:  When you say not updated -- updated from?

MS. GIRVAN:  So you filed an update of this exhibit, executive summary of the application.  And on page 4 of my compendium, it has a summary of the OM&A budget for '17 and '18 and '16.  But you haven't updated table 10 at all to reflect what your projected --


MR. JODOIN:  Sorry, yes, I misinterpreted your question.

MS. GIRVAN:  You projected what 2016 would be.

MR. JODOIN:  So in Exhibit I-1-109, we provided the 2016 OM&A updates associated with pension revaluation.  So to answer your question, no, we didn't update this table specifically, but we did bring forward the 2016 amounts and as I mentioned, it's Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 109.

MS. GIRVAN:  So for 2016, what was your Board-approved versus what your projected is today?  Is it different than what's on this table on page 19 of the exhibit?

MR. JODOIN:  Correct.  So what we should consider in -- so in your page 5 of your compendium, which would be, yes, page 19 of Exhibit A-3-1, we would have to reduce the 2016 projected OM&A by approximately 11 million to account for the pension revaluation that was stated in Exhibit I-1-109.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So if we look at the 2016 Board approved, it's my understanding that as part of the settlement agreement, there was an agreed-to reduction of 20 million.  Is that correct?

MR. JODOIN:  Correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So your projected, or I guess forecast before you completed the settlement agreement was 20 million more, which is 456.7; is that correct?

MR. JODOIN:  Correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you're projecting in 2016 to come in significantly less on your overall OM&A relative to Board approved and particularly relative to what you had originally forecasted in '16.

MR. JODOIN:  Well, I think -- I will confirm that your math is correct, but it's important to consider that we are comparing to Board-approved.  That is the -- that's the --


MS. GIRVAN:  I realize that --


MR. JODOIN:  Okay.

MS. GIRVAN:  -- but I am talking about your budgeting process, and when you came into the '16 case you had a different number; that's right?

MR. JODOIN:  Confirmed, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  Okay.  So if I look at -- I have just a quick question on page 6 of my compendium, and this is with respect to development costs, and if you also turn to page 4 of my compendium -- sorry, it's not 14.  Hang on.  It's been so long since I have looked at these notes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We are all a bit older, Ms. Girvan.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, that's the way I am feeling right now.  So I think -- okay.  I am just going to pass on that for a second.

MR. JODOIN:  Okay.

MS. GIRVAN:  So then what I want to do is I want to look at -- back to page 9 of -- sorry, if we look at page 9 of the compendium.  So I am looking at operations, OM&A, and I am seeing a trend slightly increasing over the test years; is that correct?

MR. JODOIN:  I can confirm that's correct.  I just want to point out that this panel likely isn't the best --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So that's just what the numbers say.  That's what -- I am just trying to make that observation.

MR. JODOIN:  The numbers are increasing.  I can confirm that's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Great.  And then if you turn to page 10 of my compendium, the customer-care costs are basically pretty much steady-state over the test year -- the test years relative to 2016; that's correct?

MR. JODOIN:  Correct, but declining from 2015, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, great, thank you.  Okay.  So what I want to do is I want to consider the presentation of your OM&A costs just so that I understand them, so you can correct me if I am wrong, but you have a category called "common corporate functions and services and other OM&A".  That's correct?

MR. JODOIN:  Correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And that is a part of your common costs.  Okay?  So --


MR. JODOIN:  Yes, so the specific exhibit would be C1-3-3 where those costs are detailed, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  That's right.  So if I look at -- sorry, again, I look at page 15 of my compendium.  Okay.  So we have -- what I am trying to point out is we sort of -- in considering your OM&A costs, we kind of -- we have three levels, really, so we have got overall OM&A costs, and we have common corporate OM&A costs; correct?

MR. JODOIN:  So we would have C1-2-1 -- so we would have sustainment, development, operations, customer care, kind of the groups we just looked at in your prior -- in the prior pages of your compendium.  And then the table you are referring to here represents, yes, the common corporate costs that can be broken down into the functions in table 1.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And you can see that, actually, if you look at page 16 of the compendium.  That's -- this is the top category, and then page 15 of the compendium is a summary of the common corporate costs and other OM&A; is that correct?

It's just, it's confusing.  I am just trying to get very clear in terms of what is your overall OM&A request.

MR. JODOIN:  Sure, okay.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay?  So then I look at within the context of your common -- if we turn to page 15 of the compendium, your common corporate functions and services is a -- it's a category of your common corporate OM&A costs; correct?

MR. JODOIN:  Sorry, could you just repeat the page number you are referring to in your compendium?

MS. GIRVAN:  15 of the compendium.  It's on the screen.

MR. JODOIN:  Yes, so embedded in there would be costs associated with asset management, common corporate functions and services, which is further detailed in Exhibit C1-3-3.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. JODOIN:  Yeah.

MS. GIRVAN:  So if I look at the common corporate functions and services -- and we will get -- we will look at that in detail in a second --


MR. JODOIN:  Okay.

MS. GIRVAN:  -- we are seeing over sort of historical periods those costs have increased relative to '14, '13.  They have gone up, right, the common corporate functions and services?

MR. JODOIN:  I do see that line item, and, yes, I see the increase you are referring to --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And then --


MR. JODOIN:  -- and I also see a decline from 2017 to 2018.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So -- but when I take the amounts in these common corporate -- common corporate functions and services, you, with respect to the other OM&A costs -- and that includes -- that's your capitalization of overheads; isn't it?

MR. JODOIN:  The capitalization of overheads is a component of that.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So what I see is on the total common corporate OM&A costs, I see 73.9 million in '15, 72.3 in '16, and in '17 and '18 I see 49 and 47.

And I am going to say to you, it's my understanding that the reductions in those years of these amounts that feed into the overall OM&A costs are reductions that are related to the level of capitalized overheads; is that correct?

MR. JODOIN:  If you don't mind, could you just repeat the last part, the specific question that you have?

MS. GIRVAN:  So I am just trying to have a full understanding of what's happening with respect to OM&A costs, so when I look at this particular category of costs which feeds into your overall request for OM&A, I notice at the bottom that there is a significant decline in '17 and '18, and my question to you is, my understanding is that significant decline is related to the overall level of capitalized overheads; is that correct?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  So based on page 15 of your compendium, you know, it does indicate that capitalized overheads is -- yes, the amount being -- the quantum being capitalized is increasing, and that's as a result of the expanded work program in those years.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, but these costs aren't going down in any significant way, it's just you're capitalizing more of these costs.  They are not going down, they are just being reallocated; is that correct?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Girvan, if put another way, would you suggest that the activity level is not going down?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  So the amount of cost -- so the capitalization rate is actually declining, but what's caused the quantum of costs being capitalized is increasing because of increased activity, if that answers your question.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, I guess -- I am just saying it's -- you're -- you're -- in years '17 and '18 you're capitalizing more costs than you did in '16 and '15.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  In pure dollars that --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  -- would be correct, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  That's really my point, and I just want that to be clear, because I have heard that OM&A is going down significantly, and I might argue differently, and I just wanted to be clear that we understand the accounting.

MR. JODOIN:  Well, I think it's important also to understand that OM&A is declining, and there are other items than just capitalization policy embedded in this application that's contributing to the decline in OM&A --


MS. GIRVAN:  Sure, it's arguable about how much.  That's my point.  So I understand your point.

Okay.  So if you look at Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 1, page 2.  And I am just -- sorry, it is in my compendium.  I can pull it up.  Okay.

MR. JODOIN:  Page 15 of your compendium, I believe?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yup.  Yup, page 2.  And can you reconcile the common corporate functions and services, the amounts, the 98.3 and the 97.6, with C1, tab 3, schedule 3?

MR. JODOIN:  Sure, I can help with that.

MS. GIRVAN:  Great.

MR. JODOIN:  So perhaps if we could pull that up on the screen, it might be the best approach, and actually, I think it's probably more appropriate to pull up Exhibit I-4-12, where it was an interrogatory that gave us the opportunity to recast this table to include some updates.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  I just wanted -- and I think I have asked you this before.  I just wanted to reconcile the numbers because I don't think they are the same.


MR. JODOIN:  Sure, okay.  So either way, the numbers are the same in both places.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. JODOIN:  So if you look at the table here in table 1, and you go to the far two right columns outline TX allocation 2017-'18 and look all the way down at the bottom, you will see the 98.3 and the 97.5 which reconciles to the numbers you were looking for.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Okay, fine.  So just quickly, if you could please turn to page 13 of the compendium.  So just to be clear, these are corporate management costs and we see over '16 -- relative '16, '17 and '18, there are significant increases over 2015.


And we have been through that with other panels.  That represents the new executive team, is that correct?


MR. JODOIN:  So I think it's important to refer back to the IR that I just brought up, because this was the category that we did update.  So if we could pull that up and then I can comment at that point.


MR. GARNER:  My only point was I just wanted to point out the trend from '15, moving to '16, '17 and '18, the significant category in that CCF&S costs is related to the new executive team.


MR. JODOIN:  Just so everyone is on the same page, and I am not sure how everyone else is interpreting the numbers in that exhibit, it's important we refer to the IR because the trend is different.  I just want to have an apples-to-apples comparison.


So what we should be referring to, if we can start with the 2015 costs in this IR, we are moving from 12.5 million to 14.5 million, and that is because we've included in our initial estimates costs that are not allocated to the regulated entity that will stay at the shareholder level.

That coupled with -- I would agree the rise in this category relates to rising compensation costs.  But it's very important that as we consider these costs that we are considering the benefit associated with them, like the acceleration of the pension revaluation and the productivity outlined in the application.


MS. GIRVAN:  I understand all of that.  I just wanted to point out the trend relative to the historic years, that's all.  And I understand the distinction now the with adjustment, thank you.  I really appreciate that, thank you.


MR. JODOIN:  Okay, fair enough.


MS. GIRVAN:  If we turn to -- sorry, I am trying to be quick here.  If we turn to page 20 of the compendium and I look at the finance area, as we see it's a pretty steady state.  But the reduction in '17 and '18, can you just confirm for me that that's related to moving functions from finance to regulatory affairs?

MR. JODOIN:  So the reduction from '16 to '17 to '18 is twofold.  Part of it is what you mentioned, the movement of the business performance group from the finance group to regulatory affairs.

But also included in these numbers were initial estimates for procurement savings that we have previously discussed in this application.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.


MR. JODOIN:  Okay.


MS. GIRVAN:  If you could please turn to page 18 of the compendium, and just briefly I want to look at corporate relations.  And I see it's fairly steady state, but we do have an increase in 2018.  Can you explain that for me, please?


MR. JODOIN:  I can.  Sorry, just bear with me for one second.  And sorry, you are asking 2017 to '18, to be clear?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. JODOIN:  If we could turn up Exhibit C1-3-3 -- just finding the page number here specifically page -- we will start at page 10.  Sorry, we will just let it come up here.

So first, it's important to consider what is included in this bucket of costs.  So there are three main groups.  There are costs related to the core First Nations and Metis relations group, and the associated staffing and labour costs with that group.  There is also an outsourcing services group, as well as a corporate relations group.  And the details of all of these groups are outlined between pages 10 and 12 of this exhibit.


Now to address your question, much like in 2014 where we saw a jump in the corporate relation costs, a lot of that was related to the outsourcing group and getting ready for renegotiation of one of our largest outsourcing agreements.


The same can be said for 2018.  There are costs embedded in this application that take into consideration the ramp-up for a potential renegotiation.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  From my understanding -- and if you could turn to page 21 of my compendium, my understanding is that in part, these costs related to corporate brand identity.

MR. JODOIN:  I think your question was different than what this interrogatory is referring to.  So you are asking me what the jump from 2017 to 2018 was?

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, you have told me that already.


MR. JODOIN:  Okay.

MS. GIRVAN:  But I am asking a different question about the corporate relations functions.


MR. JODOIN:  Okay.


MS. GIRVAN:  I would just like the understand -- it is my understanding, and I want to confirm with you that some of these costs are related to corporate brand identity.

MR. JODOIN:  Just bear with me for one second, please.  So if we could turn up TCJ1.19, I think this is a better example and a more full description of the corporate-relations-specific costs in this application.

This came from an undertaking at the technical conference, and here you will see that it is specific there are no branding initiatives in the test years that we are seeking recovery for.

Brand identity, on the other hand, are ensuring our customers and our internal stakeholders are on the same page with the organization, and ensuring we have an engaged workforce which ultimately leads to productivity improvements for the company.


MS. GIRVAN:  And how much of that budget is related to that?

MR. JODOIN:  Sorry, repeat?  How much of the budget is related to?


MS. GIRVAN:  Corporate brand identity.

MR. JODOIN:  So I guess the difficulty in breaking out the corporate affairs budget into specifically brand identity or the other community investment, web communications, media relations, customer and employee communications, is a lot of these costs are labour based.

MS. GIRVAN:  So an element of this, though, is related to corporate brand identity.  You are confirming that? That's all I need to know, that's fine.


MR. JODOIN:  I can confirm that it relates to brand identity, but not branding initiatives.


MS. GIRVAN:  I understand that.


MR. JODOIN:  Okay.


MS. GIRVAN:  So if you can please turn to page 24 of the compendium, this sets out your depreciation expense in each year 2012 to 2016.  Can you explain to me why, in each year, your actual depreciation expense is lower than the Board-approved levels?  And if you need an undertaking to do that, that's fine.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  The primary reason for the delta between actual and OEB-approved is -- I think it's been discussed previously as well in other panels -- is an issue of our ability to in-service --


MS. GIRVAN:  So lower in-service additions?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  And just one further question.  If you turn to page 25 of the compendium, this is where you set out the productivity, and I had a discussion with Mr. Vels about this earlier.

Can you point to me in your overall OM&A costs, if we go back to the original common cost schedule, where these amounts are identified?

So if I look at the IT, in particular, can you point to me in '17 and '18 where I would see those reductions reflected in the line items in your overall OM&A costs?  And you can undertake to provide that for me.

MR. JODOIN:  Yeah, I am sorry, at this point I would be speculating as to where they --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, I'd just like --


MR. JODOIN:  -- wound up --


MS. GIRVAN:  -- to -- I'd like --


MR. JODOIN:  -- I can confirm they are in, I just --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. JODOIN:  -- I don't want to speculate as to --


MS. GIRVAN:  I would like -- yeah, I'd like to see the line item where we see those reductions reflected.

And I just had one -- I had one other question.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Undertaking for that last one?

MS. GIRVAN:  Oh, sorry.

MR. MILLAR:  J11.22.
UNDERTAKING NO. J11.22:  TO POINT TO IN '17 AND '18 WHERE ARE THE REDUCTIONS REFLECTED IN THE LINE ITEMS IN OVERALL OM&A COSTS.

MS. GIRVAN:  So I just had one brief HR question.  And, now, is a 50 percent pension contribution a goal for Hydro One?

MR. McDONELL:  I confirm that, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  And when do you expect to reach that?

--- Pause in proceedings.

MR. McDONELL:  That took a little bit of time.

I guess I can respond to that question by saying it really depends upon the employee group that we are talking about.  As a matter of fact, we are at 50-50 for our new Society employees already.  In 2016 we are at 1.89 to 1 and in 2018 we further project to be a little bit closer to 1 to 1.  We will be at 1.5 to 1 in 2018.

So I guess to get a partial answer to your question, I guess the rest of it, it really depends upon our next valuation, but we are certainly making headway in all our employee groups to 1 and 1.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.

Now, can I just -- I have one final question.  So if I look at -- sorry, I don't know where things are in my compendium.

If -- okay, so if I look at page 12 of my compendium, and I think you said you've -- maybe you have updated this in the other interrogatory, but my question is, we have total amounts, and then we have the transmission allocation for '17 and '18; right?

MR. JODOIN:  That's correct.  I see that, yup.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, so when you file your distribution case in the next few months, are these numbers going to be the same?

MR. JODOIN:  So one item worth noting is at the technical conference we brought forward a few positions that were not embedded in this application.  So that would be one variant -- sorry, I should add that we are not seeking recovery for as part of the transmission application, but we did quantify them at the technical conference.  We did not update this table.  So that would be one variance.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, I guess my question really is when we see your application and whatever -- whenever you are going to be filing it -- will these common costs, these CCFS costs, will they be the same?  Will you be basing the forecast for distribution on these numbers as well?  Because it's the same company and the same costs.  You are just allocating them between transmission and distribution.

MR. JODOIN:  The allocation methodology -- and I did confirm this last week -- the Black & Veatch methodology to allocate from a total perspective down to all of the affiliates will be the same.

To the extent that every dollar embedded in this application -- I can't answer that right now for certain, only because, like I mentioned, there were a few positions that we brought forward at the technical conference, and to the extent that there is any new information with some of these groups, I don't have that information with me right at this moment, but what I can confirm is that the methodology to allocate down using the approved Black & Veatch methodology will be the same.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, I am just -- it's just -- that's fine.  I understand the methodology is the same.  I am just wondering if this is a set of numbers related to different activities within the consolidated company, and I am wondering when you file your distribution application if that's going to be different.

MR. JODOIN:  I would expect the numbers to be very close and --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  That's fine.

MR. JODOIN:  -- materially consistent.

MS. GIRVAN:  All right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.
Procedural Matters:


We had suggested earlier that we would take stock of our schedule and provide some guidance to Anwaatin, and I think in fairness to them we should plan to be together on Friday, Mr. Nettleton, Friday morning.  Otherwise it could very well be a tight squeeze on Wednesday.  We have a full day booked with spillover as it stands now into Friday morning, and just if history is any predictor of the future, I think that it might be tight to have Anwaatin travel on Wednesday, just to have them have to stay over, in that they're not available on Thursday.  If we have spillover to Thursday, I would have suggested we try to do it, but in that they are not available Thursday, I would suggest we sit on Friday morning.  Does that cause you or your client any grief?

MR. NETTLETON:  Yeah, Mr. Chairman, it doesn't cause, I don't think, my client any grief.  They thankfully will be, I think, not seating on -- or not sitting on Friday, so it would only appear to be for a very short period of time from -- at least from the schedule, from 9:15 to 9:40, and as I understand it, we are going to be sitting on Wednesday, correct?

MR. QUESNELLE:  We are sitting Wednesday, but as you can see from the schedule, there is the start at 4:20 on Wednesday with the current calendar.  This calendar that Mr. Thiessen has put together has a total of 40 -- just over an hour, I suppose, yeah, for what's scheduled for their direct examination, and then cross by yourself and Energy Probe.

MR. NETTLETON:  Yeah, my only observation is that if we are putting over to Friday for just half an hour, it would strike me that either we should start earlier on Wednesday or stay later on Wednesday just to get the evidence in, as opposed to having Anwaatin travel down on Wednesday and then, you know, be here until Friday before they --


MR. QUESNELLE:  That wasn't my suggestion.

MR. NETTLETON:  Oh.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I was suggesting they not start until Friday.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, I am sorry, I'm not -- it's the end of the day.  Okay.  Got it.  So what you are saying is -- well, I am in your hands, but if all we are doing is -- and I -- quite frankly, I mean, I put an estimate for 30 minutes.  Now, I haven't been tested on my estimates yet, but --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yeah, I think that we had a conversation at the break, and I think that we would rather not risk --


MR. NETTLETON:  Yeah.

MR. QUESNELLE:  -- running into 6:30, seven o'clock on the Wednesday, given that Anwaatin witnesses are available.  We will start them on Friday and have them not travel until Thursday or whatever, to be ready to start Friday.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Quesnelle, you are forgetting the Bruce to Milton last day of hearings.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Never forget that.

MR. THIESSEN:  I have one comment to make. Mr. Chair. and that is if we are going to meet on Friday we will have to go to the West hearing room --


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.

MR. THIESSEN:  -- because the OPG hearing is taking place here that morning.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Are they flexing muscles already?  They can go to the other -- no, that would be fine.  I think we can accommodate that, and that would make sense, given the likelihood of the number of people they will have on Friday versus us.

So why don't we plan on that, and we will see this panel again at nine o'clock on Wednesday morning.  Okay.  Thank you very much.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:29 p.m.
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